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MBEERE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Results (for the year ended 30 June)

— Revenue

— Adjusted profit/(loss)*

— Attributable profit/(loss)

— Dividends

— Earnings/(loss) per share
(in HK cents)

Financial Position (as at 30 June)
— Cash and cash equivalents®

— Total assets

— Equity”

Financial Ratios (as at 30 June)
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— Current assets/Current liabilities —-RBEE/MPEE
— Assets/Equity” —BE R

— Sales/Assets —EEEEE

i Excluding reversal of impairment and/or impairment

* Excluding overdrafts

#

Attributable to owners of the Company
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2022
—EC-CE
HK$’000
TER

127,755
4,558
4,558

2.06

108,260
210,187
133,279

213
1.58
0.61

2021
—E-—F
HK$'000
FHAT

139,069
5,669
5,689

2.62

118,848
216,680
107,663

1.95
2.01
0.64

2020

—E-FF

T —=

HK$'000
TET

146,944
3,897
3,875

1.94

95,472
186,243
52,821

1.91
3.53
0.79

2019

—E-NF

HK$'000
THET

143,966
1,793
2,437

1.24

83,365
162,438
67,458

1£92
2.41
0.89
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2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
TET

136,743
(3,438)
(1,643,888)

(833.16)

71,626
158,529
70,914

215
2.24
0.86
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

R-ZT-—FNA=+/\B AS AT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)
(appointed on 30 December 2021

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
(retired on 30 December 2021)

Mr. WU Yunjing
(retired on 30 December 2021)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada
Mr. IP Wai Lun William
(appointed on 30 December 2021)
Mr. Clayton IP
(retired on 30 December 2021)

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Wai

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai (Committee Chairperson)
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada
Mr. IP Wai Lun William

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

OPERATION CENTRE
Europe

Multitone House
Shortwood Copse Lane
Kempshott, Basingstoke
Hampshire, RG23 7NL
UK

PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Unit 4213, 42nd Floor
Hong Kong Plaza
188 Connaught Road West

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

RZZEZZFAAZ+/\H ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Nanyang Commercial Bank, Limited
Bank of Communications (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

Level 35, Tower 1, Enterprise Square Five
38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay
Kowloon

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

The R&H Trust Co. Ltd.
Windward 1

Regatta Office Park

PO Box 897

Grand Cayman KY1-1103
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

COMPANY HOMEPAGE/WEBSITE

www.tricor.com.hk/webservice/01059

STOCK CODE

1059

INFORMATION AND ENQUIRIES

Investor Relations

Kantone Holdings Limited
Unit 4213, 42nd Floor
Hong Kong Plaza

188 Connaught Road West
Hong Kong

e-mail: ir@kantone.hk
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EFREBE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Kantone Holdings Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) and
the management of the Group, | would like to present the 2022 annual report
of the Group.

During the year under review, our efforts were still pinpointing on the creation
of more revenue in this low growth and elevated inflation environment. The
pandemic has disrupted the order of people’s daily lives and has also caused
a substantial contraction of the global economy, especially the supply chain
of the world. Prices are rising all over the world at a pace that hasn’t been
seen for decades, and central banks have responded by lifting interest rates.
They have taken active measures to adapt to the challenge and have strived
to overcome the difficulties.

Our principal group in UK has continued to focus on software development
and enhancement with many of our established customers being transferred
from traditional RF paging solutions to Smartphone “App” based secure
messaging. They also partnered with Amazon Web Services so as to provide
customers with a choice to upgrade their service to cloud-based platforms. It
not only helps to secure and offers excellent resilience with over 99.9%
availability but also helps to market our cloud solutions worldwide. During the
year, the largest ever EkoTek solution was deployed in the UK which led to
EkoTek becoming an award-winning solution at the Health Tech Digital
Awards 2022 for Best Mental Health Solution.

Another important project of ours — Project Aurora — the successor to our
highly successful i-Message platform has now reached the stage of
demonstration and is expected to be formally launched soon. More resources
will be devoted to the Research & Development in this area. It is a cloud-
based messaging solution with a device agnostic, OS-independent
messaging application, and to be integrated with existing i-Message solutions.
Our focus is on the provision of devices and operation system free cloud-
based solution to our existing and new customers in the near future. We are
expecting that this will generate stable and recurrent revenue.
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TREHmE (A
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (Continued)

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to our
customers, suppliers, business partners and the shareholders for their
continuous support during this difficult and struggling period, and give special
thanks to all employees of the Group for their devotion and achievements
under the current challenging social and business environment.

Looking ahead, our management team would continue to enlarge the Group’s
market share and develop along the government’s strategy and objectives in
saving lives, protecting the elderly and vulnerable, avoid hospital overload,
maintain a healthy economy and keep people at work and avoid lockdowns
and restrictions.

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa
Chairman
Hong Kong

28 September 2022
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CEEERE D

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Revenue

The Group reported a total revenue for the twelve months ended 30 June
2022 of approximately HK$128 million as compared with approximately
HK$139 million for the previous year, representing a decrease of
approximately 8 percent. Same as last year, this was mainly due to the
changes in the product mix and the scaling down of marketing activities due
to COVID-19 which could not be substantially substituted by cyber
promotions during the year on account of the nature of the services and
products that the Group has been selling.

Profit Attributable to Owners of the Company

Profit for the year ended 30 June 2022 was approximately HK$4.6 million as
compared with profit of approximately HK$5.7 million for the previous year.
The decrease in profit for the year was mainly due to decrease in revenue by
8 percent despite a decrease in general and administrative expenses by 11%.
Earnings per share was HK2.06 cents as compared with earnings per share
of HK2.62 cents for the previous year.

Distribution Costs

The Group’s distribution costs for the twelve months ended 30 June 2022
were mainly attributed to our principal subsidiary in United Kingdom (“UK”) —
Multitone Electronics PLC (“Multitone”), which recorded distribution costs of
approximately HK$24.4 million compared with approximately HK$25.7 million
for the previous year, representing a decrease of about 5 percent. The
negative impact of COVID-19 on the ability to travel combined with the
cancellation of trade shows and exhibitions led to a decrease in selling costs.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 30 June 2022 were
decreased by approximately 11 percent to approximately HK$46 million (2021:
approximately HK$51.8 million). The decrease was due to the prudent cost
control and also because the share of common expenses with our former
parent company — Champion Technology Holdings Limited was stopped
since the date of change of substantial shareholder which became effective
on 9 November 2021.

Finance Costs

Finance costs for the year was decreased to approximately HK$629,000 from
approximately HK$1,100,000 as compared with the fiscal year 2021.
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EEIERE SRS ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

As we entered the 2021/22 trading period it was with optimism that the world
economy would recover from the effects of the COVID pandemic. The impact
of COVID lessened, but it was soon to be replaced by the impact of the War
in Ukraine.

Despite the operational challenges we continued to invest in operations,
particularly within R&D, Sales and Marketing to support the development of
products that will give us a competitive advantage. Whilst some areas of the
worldwide economy have suppressed business opportunities, our foothold in
Public and Private Healthcare, and our development of smart products
continues to provide opportunities.

The performance of the Group is a considerable achievement set against the
backdrop of post COVID recovery, and the outbreak of War in Ukraine.

Technology Business — System Products

A significant proportion of our investment in R&D has contributed to the
migration of our Multitone i-Message solution from on-premise to the cloud.

Our partnership with Amazon Web Services (AWS) on which our cloud
platform is deployed has enabled us to offer a trusted cloud platform to our
existing healthcare customers who are adopting a cloud first strategy.

Multitone is a member of the AWS Partner Network as a Technology Partner
and we will continue to work with AWS to deliver ultra-fast, highly reliable
Multitone i-Message services in the cloud.

AWS is highly secure and offers excellent resilience with over 99.9%
availability. AWS is also global, delivering cloud services across every
continent which will help Multitone to market our cloud solutions worldwide. (As
referenced at https://www.multitone.com/partnerships/)

We now have a number of NHS customers in the UK utilising our AWS
instance for the provision of Smartphone Messaging applications, to
supplement their existing on-premise radio paging solutions.

This combination of being able to support Smartphone applications from our
AWS cloud instance, and also support the radio based on-premise paging
infrastructure from the cloud is a key differentiator between Multitone and its
competitors in the UK.
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I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Technology Business — System Products (Continued)

Through continued innovation of our EkoTek and EkoCare family of products
we have been successful in winning a number of high-profile contracts within
the Mental Healthcare market.

Our next generation EkoTek Hub (aka Controller) was released to sales as
expected in Q1 2022 and has resulted in the ability to deploy larger EkoTek
solutions supporting a greater number of devices.

The development of a vandal and ligature resistant call point device for our
EkoTek range of products, resulted in a successful bid to deploy our solution
at the Camden & Islington Mental Healthcare NHS Trust, Highgate Hospital.

This was the largest ever EkoTek solution deployed in the UK which has led
to EkoTek becoming an award-winning solution at the Health Tech Digital
Awards 2022 for Best Mental Health Solution.

The demand for paging remained strong during the period under review. The
period showed a modest growth in the volume of paging receivers sold,
which supports our continued investment in paging as the best technology
for critical messaging.

Cultural Products

Cultural products, including precious stones and artifacts, valued at
HK$4,303,000 (as at 30 June 2021: HK$4,419,000) have been held for
trading and resale in the ordinary course of business. They were included in
the inventories of the Group as at 30 June 2022. During the year under
review, we purchase and sold 6 kg pure gold ornaments.

All such cultural products, totalling 143 pieces, have been kept in a secured
warehouse run by a world-renowned security solution company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.
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EEIERE SRS ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Controlling Shareholder

Champion Technology Holdings Limited (“Champion”), the former holding
company of the Company, Innovative City Investments Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability and wholly-owned
by Mr. Chan Koon Wa, (“Offeror”) and the Company jointly announced that
on 31 May 2021, Champion and the Offeror entered into the Sale and
Purchase Agreement (“SPA”), pursuant to which the Offeror had conditionally
agreed to acquire and Champion had conditionally agreed to sell the Sale
Shares, being 128,137,958 Shares, representing approximately 59.04% of
the entire issued share capital of the Company.

Since the resolutions proposed for the Champion Shareholders to approve,
among other things, the SPA and the transactions thereunder at the
Champion’s special general meeting had been duly passed and all the
conditions precedent had been fulfilled, the Offeror, Champion and Kantone
announced that the completion took place on 9 November 2021
(“Completion”). Immediately upon Completion, the Offeror and parties acting
in concert with it became interested in a total of 128,137,958 Shares,
representing approximately 59.04% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company. Upon Completion, the Company ceased to be a subsidiary of
Champion and the Company’s financial results after 9 November 2021 are no
longer consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Champion Group. The Offeror became the controlling shareholder of the
Company since then.

Pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code, upon Completion, the Offeror
and the parties acting in concert with it made a mandatory unconditional
general offer in cash for all the issued Kantone Shares (other than those
already owned or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and parties acting in
concert with it) (“Offer”).

After Completion and before the commencement of the Offer period, the
Offeror and parties acting in concert with it were interested in a total of
128,137,958 Shares, representing approximately 59.04% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company. Taking into account the valid acceptances in
respect of 8,490,486 Offer Shares under the Offer, immediately after the
close of the Offer, the Offeror and parties acting in concert with it became
interested in a total of 136,628,444 Shares, representing approximately
62.95% of the entire issued share capital of the Company.
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EEIERESANIRG ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Controlling Shareholder (continued)

The sole director and shareholder of the Offeror Mr. Chan Koon Wa was
appointed chairman and executive director of the Company at the Company’s
annual general meeting held on 30 December 2021. As stated in the
Composite Documents of the Company dated 3 December 2021, the Offeror
would conduct a review of the existing principal businesses and the financial
position of the Group for the purpose of formulating business plans and
strategies for the future business development of the Group. Subject to the
results of the review, the Offeror may explore other business opportunities
and consider whether any asset disposals, asset acquisitions, business
rationalisation, business divestment, fund raising, restructuring of the business
and/or business diversification would be appropriate in order to enhance the
long-term growth potential of the Group. Lately, the board has been studying
the possibility of bringing Multitone’s products to Hong Kong and other Asian
countries such as Malaysia and vice versa. However, such business plans
would call for additional working capital and therefore may require some fund-
raising actions. Should such corporate actions materialise, further
announcement(s) will be made in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Money Lending Transactions

During the Period, the Company’s PRC subsidiary entered into two lending
contracts (“Loans”) with two PRC companies respectively, both of which are
independent third parties. The amount of loan is RMB2.6 million and RMB2.4
million respectively. The terms of the Loans are for a period of six months
started from the drawdown date, and interest rate is 8% per annum. The
Loans are properly backed by two guarantors whose financial strength are
considered strong enough to act as guarantors of these loans.

Money lending services were only provided incidentally by the PRC subsidiary
of the Company. Such PRC subsidiary has never held itself out to the public
as money lenders and has never canvassed any borrower to borrow money
from it. Therefore, the Directors do not consider or regard that money lending
is part of the Company’s principal or core business during this Period.

The money lendings were confined to term loan financing with fixed interest
rates. All proposed lendings were considered case by case and no particular
industry was specified for this purpose. However, the Company does have its
own money lending checklist which the Directors would have to observe
should the occasion arise.

Any loan will only be made with our idle funds, and it should only be granted
to those who approach the directors of the subsidiary by their acquaintances.
They would then carry out the credit assessment process and if the results
were to their satisfaction, they would submit the requests to the Directors in
Hong Kong for further assessment and approval.
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MANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

Such assessment and know your client (“KYC”) processes follow the
procedures below:

1. Verify the identity of the directors of the borrowers and guarantors;
2. Verify the address proof of the borrowers and guarantors;

3. Obtain a copy of the business registration certificate and company
number if applicable;

4, Check the memorandum & articles of association of the borrower and
the guarantor if applicable;

5 Identify the tax position of the borrower by checking the tax clearance
certificate from the PRC competent authority;

6. Obtain the due diligence report from TianYanCha (XER#&), and if
necessary, seek advice from external legal advisers; and

% Obtain and study the financial statements, preferably audited financial
statements if the potential borrower is an entity.

After the collection and verification of above background information of the
intending borrowers, our PRC director and the company secretary
department of the Group would conduct a loan assessment process through:

1. Obtaining the corporate bank account information;

2. Assessing the creditability and financial position of the borrowers by
checking the latest audit report and management accounts and
personal financial background of the guarantor, where appropriate; and

3. Obtaining board minutes of the borrowers for approving the lending.

After having due regard to the borrower’s financial situation, the extent and
quality of collaterals/guarantee and the loan tenure, the director of the PRC
subsidiary would offer an interest rate which would tend to maximize profit
and yet would comply with the PRC’s rule in determining the maximum
interest rates of the loans to ensure that we would not impose interest rates
higher than the statutory ceiling. Normally, the PRC subsidiary would charge
not less than double of the China Loan Prime Rate (“CLPR”).

As of now, the maximum interest rate should not exceed 14.6% p.a., i.e. 4
times of the CLPR which is around 3.65% p.a..
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EEIERESANIRG ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Money Lending Transactions (Continued)

The above due diligence report, KYC and credit assessment documents
together with the amount, terms and repayment method of the loans would
be submitted to the board of directors of the Group for approval. After the
approval was granted, the final loan agreement would be signed by our PRC
director of the subsidiary with the borrower and the guarantor.

The PRC directors of the subsidiary would maintain personal contact with the
borrowers from time to time during the tenure of the loan and would start
reminding them for repayment about one month before the respective due
dates.

The following are our standard procedures for any delinquent loans:

1. Demand letter will be sent to the borrower for immediate repayment;

2. Instruct our PRC lawyer to issue demand letter to the borrower and
guarantor to demand for immediate repayment; and

3. Formal legal action will be taken if:

(@  The borrower refuses to repay; or

(b)  After 14 working days from the date of our legal demand letter if
no settlement arrangement could be reached.

Ever since the current management permitted the granting of such term
loans, there has been no sign that Loans would become delinquent.

Acquisition of an UK Property

On 29 October 2021, Multitone Electronics PLC (“Multitone”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Kantone, entered into the Sale and Purchase Agreement
with the collectively (i) Jonathan Michael Horne, (i) Simon Francis Rogers and (iii)
NSS Trustees Limited (As trustee of the IT Events Limited Pension Scheme)
(“Wendors”), pursuant to which Multitone agreed to acquire and the Vendors
agreed to sell the Unit A of The Green Buildings (‘Property”) at a
consideration of £575,000 (the “Acquisition”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Acquisition of an UK Property (continued)

As one or more of the applicable percentage ratios as defined in Rule 14.07
of the Listing Rules in respect of the Acquisition for the Company exceeded 5%
but less than 25%, the Acquisition constituted a discloseable transaction for
the Company.

Multitone’s current head office premises is situated at Multitone House,
United Kingdom (the “Head Office”) which is right next to the Property. The
Board is of the view that the acquisition of the Property will allow us to better
control in the development of the area in Shortwood Copse Lane where the
Head Office and the Property are situated and provide Multitone the
opportunity to expand their office premises and to transfer part or all of the
operation team from its branch office, which is approximately 240 kilometers
away from Head Office, to the Property if and when required.

In the short term, Multitone intends to hold the Property for investment
purpose and will lease out the Property after the Acquisition for rental income
while retaining a small portion for its own office use. Therefore, by acquiring
the Property at a discounted price as compared to the market value of the
Property, the Group may enjoy stable rental income and potential capital
appreciation.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 2 November
2021.

After a tentative recovery in 2021, this was followed by increasingly gloomy
developments in 2022 as risks began to materialize. Global output contracted
in the second quarter of 2022. Several shocks have hit a world economy
already weakened by the COVID pandemic: higher-than-expected inflation
worldwide—especially in the United States and major European economies—
triggering tighter financial conditions; and further negative spill overs from the
war in Ukraine.

The forecast is for growth to slow from 6.1 percent last year to 3.2 percent in
2022. In Europe, significant downgrades reflect spill overs from the war in
Ukraine and tighter monetary policy. Global inflation has been revised up due
to food and energy prices as well as lingering supply-demand imbalances and
is anticipated to reach 6.6 percent in advanced economies and 9.5 percent in
emerging market and developing economies this year — upward revisions of 0.9
and 0.8 percentage point, respectively. In 2023, disinflationary monetary
policy is expected to bite, with global output growing by just 2.9 percent. The
risks to the outlook are overwhelmingly tilted to the downside.
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EEIERESANIRG ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Latest forecasts are predicting growth in the eurozone of 2.6 percent in 2022
whilst growth in the UK economy has been revised from 4.7 percent to 2.3
percent, and from 2.3 percent to just 0.5 percent in 2023.

Although we expect the first half of the 2022/23 financial year to be
challenging, as we enter 2023, we hope to have secured a number of key
contracts to help us deliver a strong result for the year.

Technology Business — System Products

A new innovative addition to the EkoTek product range will be made available
to sales in Q3 2022, providing elopement detection for vulnerable people. The
new EkoTek addition will utilise wristbands to enable carers to perform duties
other than monitoring doorways or forbidden zones. The system uses the
latest Bluetooth technology and seamlessly integrates into the employee
alerting EkoTek network. It also provides data to the live alarm, dash and
mapping boards displayed on EKoMS (EkoTek Management Software).

This solution will enable our German subsidiary to fulfil existing customer
requirements following the withdrawal of third-party products from the
dementia care market in Europe due to obsolescence issues.

This will also provide new opportunities for Multitone to address the growing
aged care and dementia market in the UK.

As set out in previous reports “Aurora” will be a microservices platform
supporting both Cloud and Hybrid on-premise critical messaging and clinical
collaboration solutions.

“Aurora” will become the successor to our highly successful i-Message
platform and our investment in R&D is focussed heavily in this area. We are
still on target for the delivery of the first element of “Project Aurora” which will
be a cloud-based Messaging solution with a device agnostic, OS independent
messaging application which will integrate with existing i-Message solutions
initially.
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EEIERE SRS ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Technology Business — System Products (Continued)

Development work continues with the addition of Wi-Fi call acknowledgement
features to our existing radio paging receivers. This has progressed to proof-
of-concept, with Wi-Fi enabled pagers being deployed in a number of NHS
customers. We are on target to release a Wi-Fi enabled RPR950 paging
receiver by Q4 2022.

Building on the knowledge gained from the addition of Wi-Fi technology within
our existing paging receiver, we have also commenced the development of
our next generation of paging devices.

The “Digital Alerter” will combine synthesised frequency support, Wi-Fi and
BLE technology, e-ink displays and advanced battery technology allowing
fast charging, which will modernise our radio paging device portfolio.

The UK Market

As we emerge from the COVID pandemic the UK market was showing signs
of recovery, but now somewhat hampered by the energy crisis. However,
there are still opportunities for our solutions within Public and Private
Healthcare, and especially within Mental Healthcare where we have seen
recent success.

We will be attending the Emergency Services show in Birmingham, in the UK
in Q3 2022 to expand our reach in the Emergency Services market beyond
the traditional Fire & Rescue Services.

Public sector services within the UK are being encouraged to adopt a cloud
first and cloud hybrid approach, and with our focus on the development of
Cloud i-Message and “Project Aurora” we are well placed to support this
investment.

With the UK Government still committed to investment in the NHS our

development roadmap reflects the need for smart cloud-based solutions for
critical messaging, clinical workflow and asset tracking.
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EEIERESANIRG ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

The International Market

Multitone has strengthened its position in the APAC region with the addition
of a new distributor in New Zealand.

We are also seeking to re-invigorate the North American market by agreeing
a plan of investment with our existing US based distribution partners.

The EkoTek family of products remain a strong brand in all international
regions where Multitone is a market leader for the provision of personal
security and lone-worker solutions, such as those deployed into major
psychiatric clinic chains in Germany. These solutions are utilised to protect
care-staff from assaults and attacks.

Autonomous radio networks with 100% availability, built using mesh network
technology, combined with small and handy emergency call fobs, with
sensors that can make voluntary or involuntary calls. The systems meet the
highest DIN (Deutsches Institut fur Normung e.V. (German Institute for
Standardization)) quality standards for security within dangerous workplaces.

Iconic Projects

As well as our award-winning deployment of EkoTek within the Camden &
Islington Mental Healthcare NHS Trust we have also been successful in
deploying EkoTek to Springfield Hospital, part of the St Georges Mental
Healthcare NHS Trust in the UK.

Multitone also continues to be successful in its provision of crew mobilisation
solutions for the Emergency Services sector in the UK, with the award of the
Southwest Fire & Rescue Services tender for the supply of station end
solutions to the Devon & Somerset Fire & Rescue Service.
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EEIERE SRS ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Financial Position and Gearing

The Group’s financial position remained positive.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had approximately HK$108 million (2021:
approximately HK$119 million) liquid assets made up of deposits, bank
balances and cash. Current assets were approximately HK$159 million (2021:
approximately HK$178 million) and current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$75 million (2021: approximately HK$91 million). With net
current assets of approximately HK$84 million (2021: approximately HK$87
million), the Group maintained a healthy level of financial liquidity. As at 30
June 2022, the Group had no borrowings (2021: no borrowings) and a zero-
gearing ratio (2021: zero gearing ratio of the Group, defined as the Group’s
total borrowings to equity attributable to owners of the Company, was zero).

Finance costs for the year ended 30 June 2022 was approximately
HK$629,000 (2021: approximately HK$1.1 million).
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EEIERESANIRG ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Fund Raising Activities

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group completed a fund-raising
exercise to strengthen its financial position and raised total gross proceeds of
approximately HK$11.5 million, with the net proceeds therefrom having been

applied as follows:

Date of
Announcement Fund raising activity Net proceeds raised
i ¥ 3
DA REEH FrERERE
24 May 2022 Placing of new Approximately
- Ordinary shares HK$11.5 million
FAZ=+MWMA  undergeneral #711,500,0007% 7T
mandate
BT — R E
HEBR

Intended use of proceeds

RERERERE

Approximately HK$9.0 million
for repayment of debts
and the remaining
approximately HK$2.5
million for general working
capital purpose

#79,000,0007% 7t A {E
ERER  MATH
2,500,000/ 7 — MR & &

EETH
R-ZTZ-—FXA=Z+HEE AEEB XK
—TERE RN ANa B AR - FTER/RIE
44 %E #911,500,00078 7 EFFSRIEFENA
BT ¢

Actual use of proceeds

RERRERARE

HK$9.0 million was utilized for repayment of a debts and
approximately HK$1.3 million was utilized for administrative
expenses and operation expenses. The board of directors
expected that the remaining balance approximately of HK$1.2
million will be fully utilised during the fiscal year of 2023.

9,000,0007% 7T B F3 M 838 — 2 4 R 3RUA K 471,300,00058 T E
ARTRAX REEMX - 58 H BT 1,200,000
TER - _=FHFEHHAE -

Set out below is a further breakdown of the use of approximately
HK$1.3 million as administrative expenses and operation
expenses:

T &RE1491,300,0008 TITHFAX R EERE 2 BMAHN

Use of proceeds Amount

FREREAE K-
(HK$’000)
(F#&T)

Directors’ remuneration 260

=

Legal and professional fees 1,025

EEREEER

General expenses 21

—REERAEZ

Total: 1,306
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EEIERE SRS ),

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

Treasury Policy

The Group is committed to manage its financial resources prudently and to
maintain a positive liquid financial position with reasonable gearing. The
Group finances its operation and business development by a combination of
internally generated resources and from the capital market.

As there was no borrowing during the year under review, there was no
currency risk exposure associated with the Group’s borrowings.

The Group does not engage in any speculative derivatives or structured
product transactions, interest rate or foreign exchange speculative activities.
It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign exchange risk through matching
foreign exchange income with expense and, where significant exposure to
foreign exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments may be
used.

Capital Commitments

The Group did not have any capital commitments as at 30 June 2022 (2021:
Nil).

Charges

Certain property, plant and equipment of the Group with the aggregate
carrying amounts of approximately HK$10 million have been pledged as
collaterals for the defined benefit retirement scheme of certain subsidiaries
operated in UK.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have any charges on assets as
at 30 June 2022.

Contingent liabilities

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (2021:
Nil).
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EEIERESANIRG ),

I\/IANAGEI\/IENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

(Continued)

Significant investments held, material acquisitions
and disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, and future plans for material investments
or capital assets

There were no significant investments held, no material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the year ended
30 June 2022.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

RZZE-—FNA=+/\H ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (“Mr. Chan”), has been an executive Director and
Chairman of the Board of the Company since December 2021. Mr. Chan,
aged 60, has over 30 years of experience in the trading and distribution
business. In 1990, he started his own business in the automotive industry.
From 2008 to 2010, he held around 90% equity interest in Richard Mille
Macau Limited, which was the sole agent for Richard Mille in Macau. From
2011 to 2014, he held 55% equity interest in Symphony Lotus Limited, which
was an automotive wholesaler and distributor for sports cars and the sole
agent for Lotus Cars in the PRC. Apart from actively participating in the
trading and distribution industry, Mr. Chan also ventured into the hotel and
property development industry. He is currently the director of Golden Bauhinia
International Hotel, a 4-star hotel located in Nanning City of Guangxi Province
in the PRC. His first venture into property development in Malaysia Kuala
Lumpur is a residential development project known as Pavilion Ceylon Hill in
which he owns 49% equity stake. He is also a director of and owns 20%
equity interest in Sering Manis Sdn Bhd, which owns 280 acres of freeghold
land at Pahang, Malaysia, which is about 11 kilometres away from the peak
of Genting Highlands. The project is currently in its planning stage. He is also
a director of Buddhist Li Chong Yuet Ming Nursing Home for the Elderly, a
nursing home in Hong Kong.

As at the date of report, Mr. Chan, through his controlled corporation
Innovative City Investments Limited, is interested in 136,628,444 Shares,
representing approximately 52.46% of the issued share capital of the
Company.

*

For identification purpose only
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R-ZT-—FNA=+/\B AS AT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

Mr. LIU Ka Lim, aged 66, has been re-designated as a non-executive
Director with effect from October 2020 and continue to serve as an
authorised representative of the Company. He was an executive Director from
October 2016 to October 2020. He has over 35 years of professional
experience in the field of finance and accounting. He is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a
member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and a Certified
Carbon Auditor registered under the Energy Institute of UK. Mr. Liu is
currently a non-executive director of Champion, which was the holding
company of the Company before 9 November 2021 and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was an
executive director of Champion from October 2016 to October 2020. He is
also a director of several subsidiaries of the Group. From March 2004 to
August 2006, Mr. Liu was the chairman of Galileo Capital Group Limited (now
known as Imperium Financial Group Limited), a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange. From October 2003 to March 2006, Mr. Liu was the
chairman of Wonderful World Holdings Limited (now known as Good
Resources Holdings Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. From January 2011 to June 2013, Mr. Liu was a non-
executive director of United Pacific Industries Limited (now known as
Superactive Group Company Limited), a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange.

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica, aged 42, has been a non-executive Director
since July 2017. Ms. To is currently a Barrister-at-Law. Ms. To holds a
postgraduate certificate in laws from University of Hong Kong and a graduate
diploma in English and Hong Kong law from Manchester Metropolitan
University. Ms. To was admitted as a barrister of the High Court of HKSAR in
2009. Ms. To has about 10 years of experience in the legal field. Ms. To is
currently a non-executive director of Champion, which was the holding
company of the Company before 9 November 2021 and the issued shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange; and a director of
Multitone.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

RZZE-—FNA=+/\H ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai, aged 58, has been an independent non-executive
Director since October 2017. Mr.
accounting and finance. Mr. Leung received a Bachelor of Arts degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Leung is currently
an independent non-executive director of Champion Technology Holdings
Limited (stock code: 92).
company secretary of a private company during 2003 to 2006. From 1996 to
2003, he served various roles including financial controller, company secretary
and finance manager in several listed companies within the ITC Corporation
Limited (now known as PT International Development Corporation Limited)
(stock code: 372), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange. He also worked as a senior accountant during 1992 to
1996 in Hopewell Holdings Limited, which was de-listed from the Stock
Exchange on 3 May 2019. Mr. Leung had also been an independent non-
executive director of China Aluminum Cans Holdings Limited (stock code:
6898), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, during the period from June 2013 to June 2016. Currently, Mr.
Leung is the chief financial officer and company secretary of Da Ming
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1090), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Leung has extensive experience in

Mr. Leung served as a financial controller and

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada, aged 50, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director since July 2017. Ms. Chung has extensive experience
in auditing and accounting. Ms. Chung held various senior positions in
professional firms and commercial field, including accounting manager of a
listed company in Hong Kong. Ms. Chung holds a Bachelor of Arts degree
from York University and a diploma in accounting from The School of
Professional and Continuing Education of The University of Hong Kong. Ms.
Chung is a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British
Columbia, Canada.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE (Continued)

R-ZT-—FNA=+/\B AS AT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

Mr. IP Wai Lun William (“Mr. Ip”), has been an independent non-executive
Director since December 2021. Mr. Ip, aged 66, has over 26 years of
investment banking experience in Asia, with a focus on Greater China and
Japan. Mr. Ip was the executive director in the mergers and acquisitions
department of SMBC Nikko Securities (Hong Kong) Limited from April 2012
to January 2021. He served as the managing director and head of the
investment banking department of Cantor Fitzgerald (HK) Capital Markets Ltd
from 2010 to 2012. Prior to 2010, Mr. Ip has also worked at several major
investment banks of Chinese and European background. Mr. Ip is a
Chartered Financial Analyst Charterholder of the CFA Institute, USA. Mr. Ip
has been a Responsible Officer for Type 6 (including giving advice on matters
falling within the ambit of The Codes on Takeovers and Mergers and Share
Buy-backs (as amended from time to time)) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFO”). Mr. Ip obtained a Bachelor of Science Degree in Economics and a
Master of Science Degree in Economics from London School of Economics
and Political Science, University of London. He also earned a Master Degree
of Business Administration (MBA) from the Wharton School of Finance,
University of Pennsylvania. Mr. Ip has been an independent non-executive
director of Hopson Development Holdings Limited (Stock code: 754), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since May 2021.

Mr. CHAN Wai, aged 53, has been the company secretary of the Company
since October 2016, and he is also the chief financial officer and an
authorised representative of the Company. Mr. Chan has 29 years of
experience in accounting and financial management. Mr. Chan holds a
master degree in Professional Accounting awarded by The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is @ member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, an associate of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales.
Mr. Chan is currently the chief financial officer, company secretary and an
authorised representative of Champion, which was the holding company of
the Company before 9 November 2021 and the issued shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company.
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RZZE-—FNA=+/\H ASAT 28 SEPTEMBER 2022

Mr. Edward Paterson, aged 50, is the chief executive officer (“CEQ”) of
Multitone. As CEO, he is responsible for managing the overall operations and
resources of the group. He is also a director of several of the Group’s
subsidiaries. He has a strong IT and technical background, is a member of
the British Computer Society and a member of the Institute of Directors. He is
prioritising the development of new technologies and solutions into the
Multitone product portfolio to allow the group to realise the potential of
opportunities in new marketplaces. He joined the group in 2000 in an IT role
and has held positions within the IT and Operations Management and more
recently as Operations Director before becoming CEO on 1st January 2020.

Mr. Frank ROTTHOFF, aged 59, is the managing director of the German
operations and head of international market. He was also a director of
Multitone. He joined the Group in 2008 and has extensive experience in sales
and marketing management in the electronics industry. His earlier career
covered international sales of industrial machinery and process technology
before entering the semiconductor sector in 1989. He was responsible for the
sales and marketing of a leading European distributor of electronic
components before joining the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors would like to present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group is principally
engaged in sale of systems products, software licensing and customisation,
leasing of systems products and trading of cultural products.

A review of the Group’s business, an indication of its likely future development
and an analysis as well as particulars of important events affecting the Group
that have occurred since the end of the year ended 30 June 2022 are
discussed in the “Chairperson’s Statement” and “Management Discuss and
Analysis”, sections from pages 5 to 21. On the other hand, a description of
the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 39 to 60. The above discussions
form part of this report.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group puts great emphasis in environmental protection and energy
conservation to enhance the capacity of sustainable development and
undertake relative social responsibility. Through the establishment of an ever-
improving management system, energy conservation and environmental
protection were strongly promoted, leading to the remarkable achievement of
environmental management.

Pursuant to Rule 13.91 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), the Company will publish an
Environmental, Social and Governance (“‘ESG”) Report no later than five
months after the end of the financial year in compliance with the provision set
out in the ESG Reporting Guide in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules.
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Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws,
rules and regulations, in particular, those of which may have a significant
impact on the Group. Save as otherwise disclosed and as far as the Board
and management are aware, the Group has complied with all related laws
and regulations in all material aspects which may have significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group during the year under review.

The Company believes that employees, customers and business partners are
the key to maintain continuous sustainable development. The Company is
committed to be people-oriented and build up good relationship with its
employees. The Group provides on-the-job training and development
opportunities to enhance its employees’ career progression. Through different
trainings, staff’'s professional knowledge in corporate operations, occupational
and management skills are enhanced. The Group also values the health and
well-being of its staff. In order to provide employees with health coverage, its
employees are entitled to medical insurance benefits. The Group also works
together with its business partners to provide high quality products and
services to achieve the goal of sustainable development and contribution to
the society.

There was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
distributors and/or customers during the year under review.

The results of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 68 in the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of
the year ended 30 June 2022 (2021: Nil). Capital will be reserved for the
expansion of the Group’s business and to capture investment opportunities
arising in the future. There is no arrangement that any shareholder of the
Company has waived or agreed to waive any dividend.

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy (the
“Dividend Policy”) in December 2018, pursuant to which the Company may
declare and distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account,
among other things, the actual and expected financial performance of the
Group, retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each
of the members of the Group, cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans of the Group, the
liquidity position of the Group, general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group’s business, future prospects and other internal or external factors
that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company and any other relevant factors that the Board may
consider relevant.

The payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to compliance with
applicable laws and regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and
the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles of Association”). The
Board will continually review the Dividend Policy from time to time and there
can be no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for
any given period.

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year
under review are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 71 and note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

Details of the distributable reserve of the Company as at 30 June 2022 are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on page 160.

The Company did not make any charitable donation for the two years ended
30 June 2021 and 2022.
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Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment and right of use of
assets of the Group during the year are set out in notes 14 to 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairperson)
(appointed on 30 December 2021)

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
(retired on 30 December 2021)

Mr. WU Yunjing
(retired on 30 December 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada
Mr. IP Wai Lun William
(appointed on 30 December 2021)
Mr. Clayton IP
(retired on 30 December 2021)

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles of Association, one-third of the
Directors for the time being, (or if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by
rotation so that each Director shall be subject to retirement at least once
every three years.

In accordance with articles 86(3) of the Articles and Associations, any Director
appointed by the Board at any time either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible
for re-election at that meeting.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) as at the date of this report.

30  KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

RRETG BB RN A M I IRR M aE25

AREBRAFENEBYRX  BEREHR
EREEEZZBFBHRNGE M BERRM
FE14E15-
AFERBEAREEHIL EFR:
BITES
REERLE (FE)
R=ZFBZ—F+-A=+HBZMD)
BEHLL(ER)
(R=ZF-_—F+=-A=1HEH)
RAgEHE
(RZFZ—F+ZA=1THER)
FHATES
BRRTE
HHF L
BYFHTES
RIS E
EFERL
REMEE
(PO = Sademet = SR HIZE L)
RRIEFRE
(R=F_—F+=-A=1HEF)
RBABERBARSINHR ERF=9 2 —

Zé%(iﬁ?& EANBYIF=2 B8 BI&RE

FEEAIPR=ZD2Z2 -2 ANBORBFERME N
HREERELE=FRIE—R-
REAZERMAAFEQK AEFSEME

EHESETRIFARAEETEMENXE
CEE HAHNEEHEZAERZEBAR
ARREFRERLE YINAERRZAG
FEE.

RABREEH HEERTLEMNAEED
ER—FABAERHECEERMERINM
RIEZIRBEEH -



EFgWmE(E)
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION ON
DIRECTORS PURSUANT TO RULE
13.51B(1) OF THE LISTING RULES

During the year under review, an one off director fee of HK$540,000 was paid
to Mr. LIU Ka Lim. Save as disclosed, pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the
Listing Rules, there is no other change in the Directors’ information required
to be disclosed during the year under review.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME AND
DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

The Company has a share option scheme under which eligible persons,
including directors of the Company or any of their respective subsidiaries,
may be granted options to subscribe for shares of the Company.

Details of the share option schemes of the Company are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option
schemes of the Company.

Other than the share option schemes described in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying share and
debentures of the Company or any of their spouses or children under
eighteen years of age or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set forth
under Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:

Name of director Capacity

EEgE 514

Mr. Chan Koon Wa Interest of controlled corporation

BR 7T BE 5% A REEHEE S
Notes:
1. As at 30 June 2022, these shares of the Company were held by Innovative City

Investments Limited, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Koon Wa, the current
Chairman and executive director of the Company. Mr. Chan Koon Wa is deemed to be
interested in 136,628,444 shares of the Company, representing approximately 52.46%
of the issued share of the Company held by Innovative City Investments Limited.

2. The letter “L” denotes the Director’s long position in the shares of the relevant
associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company had any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as
defined in Part XV of the SFO), as at 30 June 2022 as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors or chief executive of the
Company or any of their spouses or children under eighteen years of age had
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of
the SFO) as at 30 June 2022 as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business to which the Company, its subsidiaries, holding company
and any of their subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his/her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors is interested in any business apart from the Group’s
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Related Party Transactions” below,
no contract of significance has been entered into between the Company or
any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder (as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure requirements
in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the Group did not conduct any non-exempt
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group had entered into certain
transactions with parties which were regarded as “Related Parties” under the
applicable accounting principles. Details of those related party transactions
are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. The
transactions which are considered as connected transactions under the
Listing Rules are further disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
corporations or persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the
Company disclosed in the paragraph headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s
interests and short positions in securities” above) had interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO:

Name of Shareholder Capacity

BERERE 514

Beneficial owner
ExnEAA

Innovative City Investments Limited

HEIRERRAF
Note: The letter “L.” denotes the shareholder’s long position in the shares of the Company.

* The percentage represents the number of shares of the Company involved divided by
the number of the Company’s issued shares as at 31 December 2021.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, according to the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO, there
was no corporation or person who had any interest or short position in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO.

The Company and its subsidiaries had no outstanding convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights as at 30 June 2022.

Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 30 June 2022.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued)

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

The Group sells its products to customers, some of whom act as its
distributors, and purchases materials and components from suppliers, some
of whom act as its merchandisers.

For the year ended 30 June 2022, sales to the Group’s five largest
customers, on individual entity basis, accounted for approximately 24% of the
total revenue for the year and sales to the largest customer, on individual
entity basis, included therein amounted to approximately 12%. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers, on individual entity basis, accounted
for approximately 31% of the total purchases for the year and purchases from
the largest supplier, on individual entity basis, included therein amounted to
approximately 10%.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders, which to
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued
share capital, had any interest in the share capital of the five largest
customers or suppliers of the Company.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group employed about 167 full-time and part-time
staff around the globe. Staff costs for the year ended 30 June 2022 were
approximately HK$70 million (2021: approximately HK$76 million).

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with reference
to market terms and the capabilities, performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.
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Emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the Human Resources
and Remuneration Committee of the Company after considering factors such
as the Company’s operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, and time commitment and responsibilities of the
relevant director.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme that may serve as an
incentive to Directors, eligible employees and consultants where appropriate.

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this report, there is sufficient
public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares as required
under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted
in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective
offices or trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in
respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any Directors. Such
permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors was in force
during the year and has remained in force as of the date of this annual report.

The Group has taken out a directors’ liability insurance to cover Directors’
liabilities to third parties. During the year ended 30 June 2022, no claims were
made against the Directors.

Other than the share option scheme as disclosed in this report, no equity-
linked agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares, or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares, were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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Details of the remuneration paid by the Group to the Directors of the
Company and senior management of the Group for the year ended 30 June
2022 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

Moore Stephens CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company on 15
June 2022 and Cheng & Cheng Limited was appointed as the auditor of the
Company on 15 June 2022 by the Directors to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Moore Stephens CPA Limited. Save as disclosed
above, there were no other changes of auditors by the Company in the past
three years. A resolution for the Company to re-appoint Cheng & Cheng
Limited as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

By order of the Board

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong
28 September 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board and the senior management of the Company are committed to
establishing good corporate governance practices and procedures. The
maintenance of high standard of business ethics and corporate governance
practices has always been one of the Group’s goals. The Company believes
that good corporate governance provides a framework that is essential for
effective management, successful business growth and a healthy corporate
culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of shareholders’ value.

The corporate governance principles of the Company emphasize a quality
Board, sound internal controls, transparency and accountability to all
shareholders. By applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will be improved
thereby instilling confidence to shareholders and the public. The Company
has been conducting its business according to the principles of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules during the year ended 30 June 2022.

Throughout the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has complied
with the code provisions in the CG Code save for the deviation of code
provision A.4.1 (there is no such requirement from 1 January 2022) of the CG
Code, details of which will be explained in the relevant paragraphs in this
report. The Board will review its corporate governance practice annually and
make necessary changes if necessary. Meetings were held throughout the
year under review and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes
were issued to Directors and senior management of the Group to ensure that
they were aware of issues regarding corporate governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions and performances and is
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes responsibility
for decision making in all major matters of the Company including the
approval and monitoring of all policy matters, the setting of objectives, annual
budgets and overall strategies, the entering into material transactions,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and operational
matters. The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the senior executives and the management. Their
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions made by the Board,
the co-ordination and direction of day-to- day operation and management of
the Company in accordance with the management strategies and plans
approved by the Board. The Board receives full support from senior
executives to discharge its responsibility. Prior approval has to be obtained
from the Board before entering into any significant transactions. The
statement of the auditors of the Company in relation to their reporting
responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 61 to 67 of this report.

Composition

The composition of the Board during the year and up to the date of this report
was as follows:

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)
(appointed on 30 December 2021)

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
(retired on 30 December 2021)

Mr. WU Yunjing
(retired on 30 December 2021)

Mr. LIU Ka Lim
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada
Mr. IP Wai Lun William
(appointed on 30 December 2021)
Mr. Clayton IP
(retired on 30 December 2021)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Composition (Continued)

Two of the independent non-executive Directors have appropriate accounting
and financial management expertise. The number of independent non-
executive Directors is more than one-third of the Board. Biographical details
of the other Directors are set out in the paragraph headed “Directors and
senior management profile” on pages 22 to 26 of this report.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is considered by
the Board to be a reasonable balance between executive Directors and non-
executive Directors. The Board is of the opinion that such balance can
provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and of the Group. The independent non-executive Directors
provide to the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience so that
independent judgement can be exercised effectively. They have also
participated in Board meetings and general meetings, dealt with potential
conflicts of interest, served on audit committee, human resources and
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company and
scrutinized the Group’s performance and reporting. Through their active
participation, the management process of the Company can be critically
reviewed and controlled.

The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise, and
have exhibited high standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. All Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the
Company’s affairs. The Board believes that the ratio among executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
are reasonable and adequate to perform check and balance function over the
Board in the decision-making process.

The Board is responsible for the appointment of new Director and nomination
for re-election by shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company.
Under the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time appoint a
new Director either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing
Board shall hold office until the next annual general meeting after his/her
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election at such meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Chairperson and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 (re-number to C.2.1 from 1 January 2022) of the CG
Code stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The role of Chairman is being performed by Mr. Chan Koon Wa, who is also
being an executive Director, and he is responsible for the overall strategic
planning and development of the Group and the effective functioning and
leadership of the Board.

The Company has no such title as the Chief Executive Officer and therefore
the daily operation and management of the Company has been monitored by
the executive Director and assisted by the non-executive Directors as well as
the senior management.

The Board is of the view that although there is no Chief Executive Officer, the
balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board,
which comprises experienced individuals and who meet from time to time to
look after the operations of the Company.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules and each of them has declared fulflment of all the
guidelines for assessing independence in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. Accordingly, the Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such in all corporate

communications containing the names of the Directors. In addition, there is
no material relationship between Board members.
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Throughout the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, save for the deviations of code
provision A.4.1 of the CG Code below:

Terms of appointment of hon-executive Directors

Under the code provision A.4.1 (there is no such requirement from 1 January
2022) of the CG Code, all non-executive Directors should be appointed for a
specific term, subject to reelection. Whilst one of the non-executive Director,
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica is not appointed for a specific term, however, the
term of office for non-executive Directors is subject to retirement from office
by rotation and is eligible for re-election in accordance with the provisions of
the articles of association of the Company. At each annual general meeting of
the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, (or if their number
is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire from office by rotation so that each Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years. As such, the Company considers
that such provision is sufficient to meet the underlying objectives of CG Code.

The Board regularly meets in person or through other electronic means of
communication at least four times every year to determine the overall strategic
direction, objectives and to approve interim results, annual results or other
significant matters. Draft notice and agenda for regular meetings are provided
to all Directors for comments and inclusion of any matters for deliberation at
the meetings. Apart from holding regular meetings, senior management from
time to time provides to the Directors information on activities and
development of the business of the Group. The company secretary assists
the Chairperson in preparing agenda for the meetings and ensures that all
applicable rules and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. Except for ad hoc Board meetings to deal with urgent
issues, the agenda and Board papers are then sent to all Directors at least 3
days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes detailed
minutes, keeps records of matters discussed and decision resolved at the
meetings.

i
3
[
]
[
[
%:H
>k
m

“tRALEEEFE
(R T AR R B 8% 4
ERTA] ZFAE
AlzmEE =T AR XX

S

ik
o¥ Ry

4}51#1%

e Pt
i ]
ﬁ%

\v2

I >
X

>N F
LR
L

—
-94

~
=

FHATES2EH

REBEEEARTHZTABXEALIEEZ
E-_HF-A-HEDRAEHABNER) 2
BEJNTEENZEREEEEY LAE
XENMBR - BEEP-BIIFRTESIHH
PRIV ERREREEH ERBEARA
MBERANG FATEFERRFERE
REEERBEEE RARAZRRESF
AeL ER=02Z —2Z2EF(RMEARYL
=B AERREOLERDIR=02—2
AB)BERERE RREFTAEIEBE=FR
E—R-RA ARARBZFHEX T AEER
TEERTHZHABBRE-

EEEHRGLEREBEMAETEALT N
RTEFEeR FHERASFRLBETH
R AEEBRRERBEIMORBZUAREFIS
HEE FEXEREAMERFEH - FHRSH
ZERBHNLZFRECRNEBESREMR  AH
FERBER YHAEARAE LEZE
EE-BRBOUERGHN SREEETR
MEERUKAEASEEREILRER ZE
e RAWEBDETERESARRE LR

BEETREBEREBERZMAERARARMR
Bl - REEESFHEIHBRETEERIN &
ﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁXﬁ%E%ﬁgéﬁE$*E%
ERTERESE- ﬂwéﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ
A8 UHE LT RmERRBERREL
FOE% o

EEEEERAT —s-—f45% 43



ALl A~

RERME (&
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Directors’ attendances in the general mestings and the meetings of the ﬁ/\ i ERNBIZREAEGENESTE & ff? %
Board, audit committee, human resources and remuneration committee, Be AHERLTFHNEES  RELEZE@
nomination committee and investment committee held during the year are set R EZEe@ @22 HEB RIS W0 T :

out below:

Human
Resources and
Audit  Remuneration Nomination Investment Annual
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/ attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
Name of Directors attend attend attend attend attend attend
BiHE/
BHE/ BHE/ REKEEZ giE/ B/ giE/
EERLEEZ GERBLEZ ANERR GERHEEZ AEREEZ SERLEEZ
= EZSeE ERZESEE YWESSEE REEE28E REZECEE RFBAFXAE
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman)
(appointed on 30 December 2021) 3/4 — — — - 11
BRI E S E(FE)
(R=ZF=Z—F+=F=+HZH)
Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson)
(retired on 80 December 2021) 1/4 — — — - 11
Bzt (£E)
(R=ZFZ—FF+ZA=1HREF)
Mr. WU Yunjing
(retired on 30 December 2021) 1/4 - - - — -
53! JLB % fE E
(RZF=Z—F+Z=A=1HEF)
Non-executive Directors
FHTES
Mr. LIU Ka Lim 4/4 - - — 2/2 11
BERLE
Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica 4/4 - = = = 1/1
s+
Independent Non-executive Directors
BYFHTES
Mr. LEUNG Man Fai 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 — 11
RN ERAE
Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai Ada 4/4 4/4 2/2 2/2 2/2 01
ERELT
Mr. Clayton IP 1/4 1/4 2/2 2/2 — 0N
(retired on 80 December 2021)
HORIE % £
(R=ZFE-Z—F+ZHA=1HREE)
Mr. IP Wai Lun William
(appointed on 30 December 2021) 3/4 3/4 — — — 11

EEREAE
(R=—FB-_—F+_F=+HZF)
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During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss and formulate the
overall strategies of the Group, monitor financial performances, review the
annual and interim results, and make decisions on significant matters. The
execution of daily operational matters is delegated to the senior executives of
the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each Board meeting in
detail by keeping minutes, including the record of all decisions resolved by the
Board together with concerns raised and dissenting views expressed (if any).
Draft Board minutes are circulated to all Directors for comment and approval
as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes are open for inspection
at any reasonable time upon request by any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information at all times and
they may make further enquiries if it is necessary to do so.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
company secretary, who is held responsible for providing Directors with
Board papers and other related materials. The company secretary also
ensures that proper Board procedures are followed and that all applicable
laws and regulations are complied with. If the Directors consider necessary
and appropriate, they may retain the service of independent professional
advisers at the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial shareholder
or a Director, such matter will be resolved in a physical meeting instead of
passing written resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no
conflict of interest will be present at meetings to deal with such conflict
issues.

The Board committees, including the audit committee, the human resources
and remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
Board meetings.

The annual general meeting and other special general meetings of the
Company are the primary forum for communication with its shareholders and
for shareholders’ participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings on
their behalf if they are unable to attend.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company held its annual general
meeting on 30 December 2021. Details of major items discussed in that
general meetings are set out in the circulars of the Company dated 30
November 2021.
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Al Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities as
Directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the Group provides a
comprehensive and formal introduction to each newly appointed Director
upon his/her appointment. Briefings and orientations are provided so as to
ensure that new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their legal
and other duties as a Director as well as the business and governance
practices of the Group. Such programmes are tailor made for each Director
taking into account their background and expertise.

The Company is committed to arranging and funding suitable training to all
Directors for their continuous professional development. During the year
ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date of this report, all Directors engaged
in business activities in their respective fields as continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills so as to
ensure that their contributions to the Board remain informed and relevant,
and they participated in the following training:

EREEZ(EREFUTESNBEIFNTE
B)WEEYEBREEREEZARAEEUR
AEBEZEB A AEERSRHERE
MEFEZARBEARFRERHEZARER
N LAEREBN S RDBHNA - AR
EENXTEET2AE REEREFZE
RREMBE UARAEBEZEBREALRR
B ZEFFeNREEREZTZERRER
HMBMAREE S BIE -

ARBHIRERESTIHEERERRH
BENBILRHEEAKLE - RBEE_F—
TERNAZTHLEFEARBEARARS A Y
I 2REFEREZENBHEIDHERB A
DEFBEEXEBVR UMBRIDTHENE
REge BREGEBEABHFTEAARIE
WHEFESHFELER RELEZEFIWT

Type of Training
(Notes)

Name of Directors EEHE A B (P =)

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. CHAN Koon Wa (Chairman) PR EE ST A (EE) A B
(appointed on 30 December 2021) (RZE-——F+-A=+HZE)

Ms. WONG Man Winny (Chairperson) =L LT (EE) A B
(retired on 30 December 2021) (R=ZEF-——Ff+=A=+HRE)

Mr. WU Yunjing (retired on 30 December 2021) RABFEER=-_FE=-—F+=-A=+HEF) AB

Non-executive Directors FHITES

Mr. LIU Ka Lim BEREE A B

Ms. TO Yin Fong Cecilica M L+ A B

Independent Non-executive Directors BIYFHITES

Mr. LEUNG Man Fai RXESLE A B

Ms. CHUNG Sau Wai BEEL T A B

Mr. IP Wai Lun Willian (appointed on 30 December 2021) # @i (R=_F=-—F+=-A=+HZ) AB

Mr. Clayton IP (retired on 30 December 2021) BRERE(R=ZF-_—F+-_H=+HRERE) AB

Notes:
A: Attending seminars, briefing sessions, conference and/or forums.
B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates relating to the economy and/or general

business etc.

Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter on a yearly
basis, disclose to the Group the number and nature of offices held by such
Director in public companies and organizations and other significant
commitments.
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The human resources and remuneration committee was established with
specific written terms of reference which was revised and adopted on 19
March 2012. As at 30 June 2022, the human resources and remuneration
committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada and Mr. IP Wai
Lun William.

The human resources and remuneration committee is responsible for, among
other things, making recommendations to the Board regarding the overall
remuneration policy, remuneration of Directors and senior management of the
Group, share option scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other
compensation-related issues. This committee consults with the Chairperson
and/or other Board members on its proposals and recommendations and has
access to professional advice, if necessary. The human resources and
remuneration committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge
and perform its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the human resources and remuneration
committee is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

During the year under review, the human resources and remuneration
committee held two meetings to review and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of all Directors and senior management.

The nomination committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 23 September 2014. As at 30
June 2022, the nomination committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung
Sau Wai Ada and Mr. IP Wai Lun William.

The main duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board annually, making recommendations on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy, identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board, selecting individuals nominated for directorships, assessing the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairperson
and other executive director. The nomination committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge and perform its duties.
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The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The nomination
committee shall meet at least once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held two meeting to
review the composition and diversity of the Board, assessed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors and considered
the appointments of Directors.

The Company established an audit committee with specific written terms of
reference which was revised and adopted on 1 January 2016. The main
duties of the audit committee include, among other things, the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function or external auditor
before submission to the Board.

(b)  to review the relationship with the external auditor by reference to the
work performed by the auditor, their fees and terms of engagement,
and make recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, internal control system and risk management system
and associated procedures.

The audit committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge and
perform its duties.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific terms of
reference which is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year.

As at 30 June 2022, the audit committee consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Man Fai (chairperson), Ms. Chung Sau
Wai Ada and Mr. IP Wai Lun Wiliam. No member of the audit committee is a
former partner of the existing audit firm of the Company within two years from
the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial interest in the
auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and discussed internal controls and
financial reporting matters with the management team of the Company.
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During the year under review, the audit committee held two meetings to
review, among other things, the Company’s interim report for the six months
ended 31 December 2021 and annual report for the year ended 30 June
2021. The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting and
compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control and risk
management review and processes as well as the re-appointment of the
external auditor. There is no material uncertainty relating to events and
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of external auditor.

The accounts for the year were audited by Cheng & Cheng Limited, whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
audit committee has recommended to the Board that Cheng & Cheng Limited
be nominated for re-appointment as the auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit committee meetings. In
line with practices consistent with Board meetings and other committee
meetings, draft and final version of audit committee meeting minutes are
circulated to all members of the audit committee for comments, approval and
record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

The investment committee was established with specific written terms of
reference which was adopted on 15 August 2017. As at 30 June 2022, the
investment committee consists of one non-executive Director, namely, Mr. Liu
Ka Lim (chairperson), one independent non-executive Director, namely, Ms.
Chung Sau Wai and two executive staffs of the Company. The investment
committee is responsible for, among other things, to review investment
performance and to advise the Company on their investment of cash, cash
equivalents, financial assets, margin deposits, cash collateral taking account
of the necessary constraints on the deployment of the various sources and
purposes of the funds to enhance the Company’s investment returns.

The specific terms of reference of the investment committee is posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The investment
committee meets at least twice a year.

During the year under review, the investment committee held two meetings to
consider and review the possible securities investments of the Group.
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The Company has adopted the director nomination policy (“Nomination
Policy”) on 28 December 2018 which sets out the criteria and process in the
nomination and appointment of directors of the Company. This Nomination
Policy ensures that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the Company; and ensures Board continuity
and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy contains a number of factors in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate, which include his or her ability to devote
sufficient effort to the affairs of the Company and contribute to the diversity of
the Board as well as the effective carrying out by the Board of the
responsibilities.

If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance
with, among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules, subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange
from time to time. Where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education,
qualifications and experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he
or she has the appropriate professional qualifications or related management
expertise for filling the office of an independent non-executive Director with
such qualifications or expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing
Rules.

This Policy also lays down the nomination procedures on appointment or re-
appointment of directors. The Nomination Committee will conduct the
relevant selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria) against
the nominated candidate for new directorship or director offering for re-
election and make recommendations to the Board for consideration. Where
appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the Board should make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed election and re-
election of director at the general meeting.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the approach to
achieve diversity within the Board. The Company considered that diversity of
board members can be achieved through consideration of a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board.
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The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits of the selected candidates
and their contribution to the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the current Board composition under
diversified perspectives is set out as follows:
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For the year ended 30 June 2022, the fee for the Company’s external auditor
for audit services was approximately HK$850,000 (2021: approximately
HK$1,800,000) and that for non-audit services mainly relating to internal
control review, risk management advisory and ESG report matters was
approximately HK$332,000 (2021: approximately HK$11,000 (mainly tax
related matters)).

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of the Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the year ended 30 June 2022, each of them has
complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code.

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
auditor is responsible to form an independent opinion on the audited financial
statements and report the same to the shareholders of the Company.

No corporate governance committee has been established and the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance functions including but
not limited to developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, reviewing and monitoring training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing
and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, and reviewing the Company’s compliance
with the code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Board is responsible for making decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors have formal
letters of appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Due to the diversity and volume of the Group’s business,
responsibility in relation to the daily operations and execution of the strategic
business plans are delegated to the management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the human resources and
remuneration committee, the nomination committee and the investment
committee, have specific terms of reference setting out the authorities and
responsibilities of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to their decisions,
findings or recommendations, and in certain specific situations, to seek the
Board’s approval before taking any actions.

The Board will review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the Board to
different committees to ensure that such delegations are appropriate and
continue to be beneficial to the Company as a whole.

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability to
provide adequate cover, as determined by the Board, in respect of the
current Board members and senior management of the Company.

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of transparency and
employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of relevant information to its
shareholders. The commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be reflected in various
aspects.

To maintain an on-going dialogue with shareholders, the annual and special
general meetings provide an opportunities for shareholders to exchange
views with the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Ms. Wong Man Winny, the Chairperson and executive Director and Mr. Liu Ka
Lim, the non-executive Director attended the annual general meeting in 2021
(the “2021 Annual General Meeting”) so as to ensure that shareholders’
views were communicated to the Board. A separate resolution was proposed
by the Chairperson in respect of each separate issue at the 2021 Annual
General Meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed from time to
time to ensure that the Company conforms to the best corporate governance
practices. The circular in relation to the arrangement of annual general
meeting will be circulated to all shareholders at least twenty one (21) clear
days prior to the holding of the annual general meeting, in which it sets out
the details of each resolution proposed and other relevant information. At the
2021 Annual General Meeting, all resolutions were put to vote by poll. Tricor
Secretaries Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and
transfer office was engaged as scrutineer to ensure votes were properly
counted. The rights of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll
on resolutions at general meeting are contained in the Articles of Association.
An explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll is provided to
the shareholders at the commencement of the meeting. The Chairperson and
other directors would respond to queries raised by the shareholders regarding
the voting procedures. The poll results are published in accordance with the
relevant provisions of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, two or more shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than onetenth (1/10) of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition.

If within twenty one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to

convene such meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in the same
manner.

54 KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

IRRATESTERRLIRIFRTESTES
REACHE_FT-_—FRRBFRg(=
E_-FRRBERE])) BERERERTHE
ERBEES -F_T-_—FREAFAE L
ITRERBSHEANFEREBILRER -

BRRBFAEZHEEZEFBETRRS KU
BRAARENKELEELRER - BAR
RBEFRERFZBHENBTRRBEFK
BRISGPR-ZIT—HCRNEXTE2ERE &
THAERREZBRERBREZABLEMA
MER R-_ZT-_—FRRBFAEL M
BRBRYUBREDARR MARFZE
BRNBPFELIREENETBERAA
NEBEAERENERERZAHE R
RZBEMNERBRARE L ERKBRBRET
BREXRRZEFHEXNEABZEREZMA - R KRE
MR RAAETRERR ZFHARE
F-XIERHEMEESORERMIEELEH
BREXRREFZAB RELERBRELD
HAZ EBRI T A A

BEBEAKZERME REZERKAHBEETDT
PR BARRBRREARAGRIEZ AR AH
BRA+DZ—(H0) ZMBHRALERE
FARBEEEEEBAARAIZESERA
AIMEZHEERER EXESTe4dRAKRE
BAXg AEBRBEEERPEHAZAMNSE
Br2RE BZASEREEZEZEREWEQ)
MAMNERT-

HWEETERAEZ2R _T—HQRNAN EFF
AEAHAZAE AIEE2RALABTH
RHETXARZAE -



ALl A

PEERRS (B

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company, a shareholder
should lodge a written notice of his/her/its proposal (the “Proposal”) with his/
her/its detailed contact information at Unit 4213, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong. The identity of the
shareholder will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share

Plaza,

registrar and transfer office. Upon confirmation by the branch share registrar
and transfer office that the request is made by a shareholder and that if the
request is proper, the Board will include the Proposal in the agenda for the
general meeting. The notice period to be given to all the shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the shareholder concemed at the
general meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(1) Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than
twenty (20) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires
approval in an annual general meeting;

(2)  Notice of not less than twenty one (21) clear days and not less than ten
(10) clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval by
way of a special resolution in an extraordinary general meeting;

(8)  Notice of not less than fourteen (14) clear days and not less than ten (10)
clear business days in writing if the Proposal requires approval in an
extraordinary general meeting other than by way of a special resolution
of the Company.

The Company also communicates to its shareholders through its annual and
interim reports. The Directors, company secretary or other appropriate
members of senior management also respond promptly to inquiries from
shareholders and investors.

Shareholders may at any time serve their enquiries to the Board in writing for
the attention of company secretary at Unit 4213, 42nd Floor, Hong Kong
Plaza, 188 Connaught Road West, Hong Kong.

ERARGIBRRACIRZEZ BRERAKE
%%Uﬁﬁﬁiﬁkﬁéﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%éﬂ
EEEEBTHENISSREESEHEFRLL2E
A213F - ARG MBEERMBPERZR DR
ERERESD BER—EBRHBLERLD
RHEAAOBREELAWMEBERBEE
AlEEgEEMARRTEREZER - A28
BRELHBAUEABRTASEZEEEEARE
TRt EZMmBNEETERHEEmE 5
ERUNNE

(1) MERERNBRRBEFRGESHAE B
AREHEALIR T —QCNVEEBRRTD
R-TROEELEXEBENEEAEM

@ WEZERKREESIASUERZESE
HFRESHE AIAZETADR -+ —
CHEZEARTLPRT0)EZTELEXEH
WEEBHM

@) WEBENARNQABRE KSR
RBEASN T A EBHE - BIZAHE B
LR +TmA4)ERBE R DR +(10)E
TERELXANEEBAMA -

ARBMEBEFHRLPHAREHERRE
ﬁo%$~“ﬁwiiﬁﬁAﬁZ%&%ﬁF
BX B IR & i R R AR B & 2 [ A R R

BRRANEMEFAEEAZARNESTSREY

B WHEAFHARWE LUt AEBSTH
ET188 R AR E R 042184213 F o

EREEERAT —2-=54% DD



rEER®RE(E

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of
corporate information to shareholders and investors. The Company updates
shareholders on its latest business developments and financial performance
through its annual and interim reports and notices, announcements and
circulars. The Company’s website (www.tricor.com.hk/webservice/01059)
provides a communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

During the year under review, there had been no significant change made to
the Company’s constitutional documents.

The Articles of Association is available on both the websites of the Company
and of the Stock Exchange.

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management
functions and internal control systems of the Group and ensuring review of
the effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Management is responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring
such systems, while the Board oversees management in performing its duties
on an ongoing basis.

During the year, the Board has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code by establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control system. Such review covered all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls. Main features of the risk
management and internal control systems are described in the sections
below:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Risk Management Framework 2 B B I AE LR

We adopt an integrated bottom-up and top-down risk review process to I MNHm TMEtEB EM N 248 BB E
enable comprehensive identification and prioritization of all material risks %7 UNE2E# B LBIEELELR EE
throughout the Group, escalation of material risks at the right managerial AKXEBEXNFEEARAR  SEAER FHE
level, effective risk dialogue among the management, and proper oversight of EE v EER M@ 2T ERE 2 [ 5t BB #E 17

risk mitigation efforts.

“Top-down”
Overseeing,
identification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
corporate level
(LT
REEERELS -
ARl AR IR E

“Bottom-up”
|dentification,
assessment and
mitigation of risk at
business unit level
and across
functional areas
(BT~ L]
REBEMEE R
PERAEE R H R
BT 7 R B [ B

BYAER UHEEERERRZERE-

The Board EE&
Has overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management systems and internal control
systems;
BERARAEEZEAREEGE RABEZEHE
Sets strategic objectives;
Bl E R B AR
Reviews the effectiveness of our risk management systems and internal control systems;
Az JE b B IR | E Ko B B 2 R 2 AR
Monitors the nature and extent of risk exposure to our major risks; and
ERFERRBIMERAAZRERET &
Provides direction on the importance of risk management culture.
HEBREE 2 EEHIRM T -

Management EIE[E
Designs, implements, and monitors risk management and internal control systems; and
HE BERERRRERERAMEZE: &
Assesses our risk and mitigating measures Company-wide.

BRERAVNCIE: N irA PSRy

Audit Committee BZEES
Supports the Board in monitoring risk exposure, design and effectiveness of the underlying
risk management and internal control systems.

XEEFSERRARARIENIARAERERE IR KA AP EEZE G E 2 B E KRR

Operational Level &EEH
Risk identification, assessment and mitigation performed across the business; and
MEB B A AR ERER &
Risk management process and internal controls practiced across business operations and
functional areas.

REBLERBEEEEZERAREEREF RAMEE-
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)

Risk Management Framework (Continued)

The risk management framework adopted by the Group is embedded in our
strategy development, business planning and day-to-day operations. The
Group adopts a control and risk self-assessment methodology and
continuously assess and manages its risk profile on a regular basis. Risks that
are relevant to the Group’s business are identified, assessed and ranked
according to their likelihood and consequence on the Group. Risk owners are
required to submit risk alerts with risk response promptly to the Board and
Audit Committee for ongoing review and monitoring. Action plans were
formulated and implemented during the year to address the areas of concern
effectively.

Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement

The Company has in place an internal control system which is based on the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (‘COSO”)
framework for internal controls and has five components, namely Control
Environment;
Communication; and Monitoring. In developing our internal control system,
we have taken into consideration our organizational structure and the nature
of our business activities.

Risk Assessment; Control Activities; Information and

We have put in place a phased improvement plan and progressed to future
enhance our internal controls and risk management system. The phase of the
plan focused on adopting a more risk-based (instead of process-based)
approach to risk identification and assessment. This approach enriches our
ability to analyze risks and respond to opportunities as we pursue our
strategic objectives. Management reporting to the Audit Committee has also
been enhanced, including the presentation of special reports on selected risk
topics.

Due to the changing business environment and development including in
annual budgeting and planning, we are still integrating internal controls and
risk management into our business processes. Instead of treating the COSO
framework as a framework-update exercise, a holistic approach has been
adopted by us, taking into consideration the Company’s circumstances,
including its ongoing internal controls and risk management improvement
plan as well as other strategic initiatives (e.g. corporate social responsibility
strategy and reporting). All of these enhance our ultimate objective to make
our risk management system a “live” one that is practiced on a day- to-day
basis by operating units.
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Internal Control System and Continuous
Improvement (Continued)

The Group also adopts and implements an inside information policy and
procedures to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of its public disclosures. The following measures have been taken
from time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a breach
of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group, which include:

° The access of information is restricted to a limited number of
employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are in possession
of inside information are fully conversant with their obligations to
preserve confidentiality.

. Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group enters into
significant negotiations.

° The executive Directors are the designated persons who speak on
behalf of the Company when communicating with external parties such
as the media, analysts or investors.

Internal Audit

The Group has engaged an external professional consultant to take the
primary role to perform the Internal Audit (“1A”) function, and professional staff
with relevant expertise of the Group are designated to provide assistance in
the IA function. The IA function is independent of the Group’s daily operation
and carries out appraisal of the risk management and internal control systems
by conducting interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the established
plan, review of the risk management and internal control systems is
conducted annually and the results are reported to the Board via Audit
Committee afterwards.

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There
may be other risks and uncertainties in addition to those shown below which
are not known to the Group or which may not be material now but could turn
out to be material in the future.
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Business Risk

Loss of market share and the uncertainties are the risks we are facing it, great
change is taking place with each passing day on the stage of the internet and
technology world. The Group needs to continue exploring opportunities in
technology innovation to broaden the market share and keep investing in
products research and development.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group operates its businesses in Hong Kong, USA, Euro and UK and
transactions are denominated in HKD, USD and Pound. The value of Pound
against HKD and other currencies may fluctuate and is affected by, among
others, changes in the economic conditions and policies. However,
fluctuations in the exchange rates of Pound would have limited impact on the
Group’s operations because the portion of revenue from UK will be used and
refinanced in UK.

Legal Risk

Legal risk is the risk that unenforceable contracts, lawsuits or adverse
judgments may disrupt or otherwise negatively affect the operations or
financial conditions of the Group. The Group has complied with the relevant
laws and regulations during the year.

Review of Risk Management & Internal Controls
Effectiveness

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the Board, through its review and the
reviews made by IA function and Audit Committee, considered that the risk
management and internal control system were effective and adequate. No
significant areas of concern that may affect the financial, operational,
compliance controls, and risk management functions of the Group has been
identified. During the review, the Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions, and their training and budget were
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The Company believes that good corporate governance is significant in
strengthening investor confidence and attracting investment. The
management will devote considerable effort to strengthening and improving
the standards of the corporate governance of the Group. Any views and
suggestions from the shareholders to promote and improve our transparency
are also welcome.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED

Certified Public Accountants

LR 18- el T - 0 N

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Shareholders of Kantone Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kantone Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages
68 to 159, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2022, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were HRERFTESEERMANEEHE 25
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of W AREAG A M B REANERZTAEENS
the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit TH- - E L ZHEE AR PIB X EEE A M HH®
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our XEERHEAEEZREBEFUERE  HfiTe@HE
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. LETFZIEHEFHER -

Key audit matter

HEEnEHR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

FE K B 5 BRI R E AT A

We identified the impairment of trade receivables as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the estimation of impairment
losses entails a significant degree of subjective estimation and
assessment.
HREREZRIANEREGEUBREABENEEE
Z - URBEBRGHE S RBARENEHMEGTLAE K
HMRARERZESRT B ECHREZENE -

As disclosed in the note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the trade receivables net of impairment amounted to
HK$13,261,000 as at 30 June 2022. No allowance for credit loss
has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2022.

MERE M ERERMFITHEE R —_FA=1+H"

MR AEREENFEKE SRR LS5 /513,261,000%
T-BEZT_FAA=ZTHLEE TEEREEERE
B o

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability
of the trade receivables and the sufficiency of provision for
impairment based on information including credit profile of
different customers, ageing of the trade receivables, historical
settlement records, expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balances, and on-going trading relationships with the
relevant customers. Management also considered forward looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected credit
losses for the impairment assessment.
ERERBEIRAEFPNERAMRA BRESERERZINEKRR B
FHEERE FRARERBFOENGR RS - AR EEEH
BEREFNFHERZIEREEN YR E 5 R AT W E 1T &
BERENRREETERAH - ERBETEZERALETE
BEPXNARERBEREINATEEER MY EREEEE
B Rl 1E Bk 5T

We focused on this area due to the management’s estimation of
impairment on trade receivables based on the expected credit
losses model involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.
HAEIHSBETHRNEEBEGRE S ERE ZHREFIRR
EHEEEEEAMENRETFEESIREREAERE
&2 £ 2 B A0 5 o
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMETERBIMNEEREERER

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of recoverability
of trade receivables included:

BPAAFEEZEREFEN TR D ENEF 2

° Obtaining an understanding of how the expected credit
loss on trade receivables is estimated by the
management;

THREBEBNNEERKE HERNTEHAEEEE

o Testing the ageing of trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to the supporting documents and the credit term
granted;
FRMRRONETE W E SRR RER EEZRA G R
EENERABRESYS

° Challenging the information used by the management to
determine the expected credit losses by considering cash
collection performance against historical trends and the
level of credit loss charges over time;
HEBEARNETHERAEEBRENERRLELR
EREZERESWRBERATELBE B E UKL —
BERANEEBEKT

o Reviewing the accuracy of management’s judgement by
comparing against historical management’s actual write-
offs;

AT EROMERE iR B8 E 2 B e %
HEE

° Discussing with the management on their assessment
based on the business relationship with customers in
relation to overdue trade receivables with/without
settlement; and
HERENAREENETPNEBBEERMERE
BB/ REFHEHBAENE S RBEOTME: &

° Examining on sampling basis, evidence related to post
year end cash receipt.

WA FRARNR S O WRARRERE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Key audit matter

HREEREE

Impairment assessment of loan receivables

FE U & K B O 1B BT A

We identified the impairment of loan receivables as a key audit

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMETERRINEEARERER

Our procedures in relation to the assessment of recoverability

matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated of loan receivables include:

financial statements as a whole and the estimation of impairment
losses entails a significant degree of subjective estimation and
assessment.
HRERERNERUGEAMBRREENEREEE UK
BEBEBGRESERAREN B MRS WBHMARE
JEWETRESMREZEE -

As disclosed in the note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, the loan receivables net of impairment amounted to
HK$5,854,000 as at 30 June 2022. No further allowance for
credit loss has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 2022.
WMERE M BHREMTISAEE R _FA=+TH"
MEBRIBER K EWE K A58540008 L HE-T = —F
NAZTHELESE TEE-—THRAEEEEERE -

Management assessment on the recoverability of the loan
receivables and sufficiency of provision for impairment based on
information including credit profile of the borrowers, historical
settlement records, expected timing and amount of realisation of
outstanding balances. Management also considered forward
looking information that may impact the borrowers’ ability to repay
the outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected credit
losses for the impairment assessment.
ERERBERANGAMRR BELELS FHRRER
FRE) TR BB A N & HE B R B R W e AT Y 1 RO {E
BENTRRMETHE BEET@EEA T ERERAE
B NMAIEMTEER  EmEEMEEERET G IED A -

We focus on this area due to the management’s estimation of
impairment on loan receivables based on the expected credit
losses model involved the use of significant management
judgements and estimates.
BHMEIHSE TN ERBEGREHEREKIRRES
EEBBREXMENRENERE Y REREEEN HE
b & -

HAIR ARG E S EUGRIAER A WE N EF 84

Obtaining an understanding of how the expected credit
loss on loan receivables is estimated by the management;
THREBBNMNGEERKERNEREEEE:

Challenging the information used by the management to
determine the expected credit losses by considering cash
collection performance against historical trends and the
level of credit loss charges over time;
HEREANETRAGEEENEMRELER
ETFEEZRBEcMRBREAELBEHNHE L AR —
BREEANEEBEKT

Reviewing the accuracy of management’s judgement by
comparing against historical management’s actual write-
offs;

HEBEEBRNOMEBRRE  ARKEEE M6 E
e

Discussing with the management on their assessment
based on the business relationship with borrowers in
relation to loan receivables with/without settlement; and
HE IR B R A RA KX R ERE R
B EEETIE R

Examining on sampling basis, evidence related to post
year ended cash receipt.

A FERNRES D RARERE -

EBREEARLAT —SE-F4EH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the annual report but
does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the
directors of the Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors of the Company.

BMPWERRAEREGAVBHRREEM
EREFEARRFXERMEHNEXNE
RERA - WAREIR AP E MR RRE L
ERMNBEENZRBEMBE A HEERE
BRI E - BRUCIASNT AT E A A iR © B AP
AR ARENANTHEMEMALRRSL
EEEFEE -

FHETERERANEZ EREBFBEE
HAETHNBERIETERELERENT
FEEYE KA AR BRM - #5 AR PRl T A BRFF S8
REL HWENKEBREAREEHNBERTA
TETRERBEZSEAMBERERRIEFLOHL
FORTER - BIBR AEREEREL -

ERBEEAEFEMNETERNBRES
BMEREXRHABLREERRREE -}
{975

o BB R AFh R X AR GF SEE RR T B BUAR
EMBBREFEEAERRANRAR
RETRATEZEFUNEHZSER
UREBRERMEENBERERE (ER
BMERAER - AR REFAT LS K H
HRomE ERER ERRAKEE
RABMEENBRLZ £ B REER
AMFEMEZNEANFRRANER S
RARBEERFNBRMEHHERERR
LR o
THRERZHEBNNEET  NERE
ENECEF EYFEEHEEAR
EENARMEERER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminated threats or safeguards applied.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

s HEERAKBLLZSFERWBREMN
Eh &R URBEMERNEZERE
HERGFHEERSHRABRAAMNENXN
THEENE MRS EENGE
REENELEARE - WEMRST
EERTHEENE  HANBLEEZR
fREPRECAEIESEAVBRSK
TRRBERE-WERKETRE  AE
AERMANER BRANERDERER
THEBE AMIEMRENERERE -
AR RREFEELBERATEEHEEE

ERELE -

s HERAMBHREANBEBEHRTA &
BEAT BREEEN UR&EAH
BHRREEPERREBRZNER -

e TEERERAEBIINTHERE
RERRBENEZRE UEUHRE
MHEREREXRER BMAEEEEX
WAR- BEBMHKIT - ZFAEZER
AEEREEE -

BMPEREZE G (EF B F5t 05 &
#E KEARHEREARGTHRETER %
FRNERETEETBETHNNAIE
ZEEREARBRK -

BEMTRABREZESELRA HHHEME
NEFRBUMNMERBRER  XHRESE
BBEAERAERSETE R MIB LI
ERAREKREAMET LA KA & HE (0
HER) °



8 3% BURD s ()

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (Continued)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

CHENG & CHENG LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lam Chun Sing
Practising Certificate Number: PO6998

Hong Kong, 28 September 20
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HE-_ZT-—FA=+HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Revenue W
Cost of sales SHE KA
Gross profit EF

Other income, gains and losses

Distribution costs

General and administrative expenses
Reversal of impairment losses recognised for

H A -~ Was R E 1R
2R A
—RRITHXH

SATF B PTRER Z R R 1R

inventories B [0
Finance costs B 75 B AR
Profit before taxation B % A1 75
Income tax expense R8s
Profit for the year 7 4F B E A
Other comprehensive income/(expense): H2mEBA(ZH):

Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
EH :

BHWELRNEZ
RRAE A

Remeasurement of defined benefits pension plans

Item that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss: IEH :

BONRSIEMEL

Exchange difference arising on translation of

T EEF D EERR

HERNEN S BEERBZ

foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

Earnings per share
— Basic and diluted

X ERR

REEZHMEEBA

REEEEBALE

BREF
—EARREEE

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B3 THET FHET
6 127,755 139,069
(54,696) (565,793)

73,059 83,276

7 2,985 2,665
(24,357) (25,685)
(46,040) (61,817)

16 - 20
8 (629) (1,105)

9 5,018 7,354
11 (460) (1,665)
4,558 5,689

25(b) 20,090 37,012

i

(10,796) 12,141

9,294 49,153

13,852 54,842

13 HK2.06 cents &4l  HK2.62 cents j&1ll

The notes on pages 73 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZ==F"A=+H 30JUNE 2022

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Retirement benefit surplus

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Loan receivables
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities
Lease liabilities
Warranty provision
Amount due to a director

Amount due to the ultimate holding company.

Tax payable

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations

Net assets

FRBEE

ME - BEMZE
EREEE
RIRE A & 85

RBEE

&

W E 5 Ko B At Bk 5K
e W& 3K

& W 75 3K
ReLkREFR

RBEE

P B 5 B H b BR 3R
BHAER

HERE

REEBG

e — B ERHHIA

JE A B 4R 4% AR A R RO SRR
&1 B 3K

RBEERE

EERERRBAR

FRBEE
HERE

RARAE R A

BEEFE

Notes

B R

14
15
25(p)

16
17
18

19

20
21
22
23
24
31

27
25(p)

2022
—E=-=

HK$’000
TE R

38,811
5,214
7,165

51,190

20,934
23,837
5,854
112
108,260

158,997

46,612
24,096
2,728
1,053

26

74,515

84,482

135,672

2,393

2,393

133,279

2021

T —fF
HK$’000
F# T

34,582
4,303

38,885

23,105
26,539
9,018
285
118,848

177,795

48,601
24,970
2,674
1,062
2,180
11,733
26

91,246

86,549

125,434

1,758
16,018

17,771

107,663

EBREEARLAT —SE-F4EH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

RZZT==F"A=+H 30JUNE 2022

Capital and reserves BAREE
Share capital N
Reserves 1

Total equity RRAR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 68 to 159 were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 September 2022 and
are signed on its behalf by:

CHAN KOON WA
BR 7S 2
Chairperson

FE

The notes on pages 73 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial
statements.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2022 2021

—E=-= —E-—F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B3 THET FHET
27(b) 26,044 21,704
107,235 85,959

133,279 107,663

FOBEIQEFH 2 RAMBRERENE
——FNA-t+ N \BHhRESe A RRET
B OUWATHNEERRES

LIU KA LIM
BEE
Director

EE

FT3E19EMB ZMERUEHFEA P BHERE
ZHARCER S
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

HE-ZT-—FXA=+HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Share Share
capital premium
B RAEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THT
(note 27(c)(i)
(B EE27(0))
At July 2020 WZE-ZE+F-H 21,704 799,317
Profit for the year AEER ﬂ - -
Remeasurement of defined benefits & & 7 5 4 1 &l 7 R £
pension plans =l - -
Exchange difference arising on NEBREREEL
translation of foreign operations EHES - -
Total comprehensive income FEEZEMAGE
for the year - -
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 i E/\H +H
—Z-_—-%tA—H 21,704 799,317
Profit for the year AEEGF = -
Remeasurement of defined benefts & & 58 47 ] 7 R &
pension plans & = -
Exchange difference arising on DEBREREEL
translation of foreign operations ERER - =
Total comprehensive expense for ~ AEE 2 E X H 45
the year = ~
Issuance of new shares upon placing & & A 17 I % 17 31 Bk (2 A
of shares less transaction costs RARA (HEE27()
(note 27(0) 4,340 7424
At 30 June 2022 R-B-—fxXHA=+H 26,044 806,741*
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately

HK$107,235,000 (30 June 2021: HK$85,959,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The notes on pages 73 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

Capital Translation ~ Accumulated Total

reserve reserve losses equity

X B 2itEBE ey 3

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FEL TET THET
(note 27(c)ij))  (note 27(c)iii)
(EE27(o) (B EE27(c)i)

966,807 1,038 (1,736,045) 52,821

- - 5,689 5,689

- - 37,012 37,012

- 12,141 - 12,141

- 12,141 42,701 54,842

966,807 13,179 (1,693,344) 107,663

- - 4,558 4,658

— — 20,090 20,090

- (10,796) - (10,796)

= (10,796) 24,648 13,852

- - - 11,764

966,807* 2,383" (1,668,696)* 133,279

B Ut & FE R P AKX ﬁﬂ%z‘#&}tﬁzﬁ? &

#107,235,0008 T(=Z T =—F A=+ A8:

85,959,000 7T.) °

FBB3EIEMMH L MAR L ZTHESTB®RE

ZHEKED

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HE-_ZT-—FA=+HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Gain on lease termination

Finance costs

Warranty provision for the year

Reversal of impairment losses recognised for
inventories

Interest income

(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables

Net movement of retirement benefit fund
Increase in contract liabilities
Decrease in warranty provision

Net cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Repayment of loan from third parties
Interest received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of shares
(Repayment to)/loan from ultimate holding company

Repayment of lease liabilities
Interest paid

Net cash generated from/(used in) financing
activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The notes on pages 73 to 159 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.

REXBCHER

B 750 A i A

FHE

ME BELRREBZITE
ERREEZIE
HEWE  BEM&EEE
wIrEE NS

LRV IBRN

FRRERE

Bh 17 B e W8 2 R (8 RS 1R 5
B A

FE 2z (), 6
EWE 5 R EMRRZ
w5 )
BNESREMBERZ
OB 4»),/ 48 1

RKEF 3
BHBEZIEN

RE BB 2R

REXBAEZHEFHE
E AT EH

REXBFEEZ2HESESE

REZFHZRER
NEWME  BELRE
KBEFE=TTHNERER
B FH 8

REZHAEZREFE

MEFTHZRER
BITREGS 23R
(BESZEERARNER),/
KEREERRBZER
EBRHEERE

ENFE

MEEBRB ()2
REFH

ReERBEFEZ L)/
¥
FMRERECEER
RS &

FRATRAEEH

2022

—sE=-=
Notes HK$’000
B % TET

5,018

9 8,182
9 2,847
130
(2)
8 629
142

16 -
7 (574)

16,372
()

49
(5,242)
(2,654)
1,998

(C)]

10,509
(310)

10,199
14 (16,811)
2,966
574

(13,271)

11,764
19(b) (7,369)

19(b) (2,984)
(492)

919

(2,153)
118,848
(8,435)

108,260

ZHBRER D o
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2021

—E -4
HK$’'000
T T
7,354

7,243

2,906

1,105

(20)
(811)

17777

(2,529)
481
(1,564)

1,001
(297)

14,961
(1,300)

13,661

(10,490)
6,553
635

(3,302)

2,315
(3,133)

(818)

9,541
95,472
13,835

118,848

FT3E19EME M ERILFH A P BEREK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—E-_FXA=F+H 30JUNE 2022

Kantone Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Law (Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands and
its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). The immediate holding company of the
Company is Innovative City Investments Limited, which is incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and owned by Mr. Chan Koon Wa.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business
of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section of
the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is also the Company’s functional currency.
All values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”) has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for
the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2021 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

beyond 30 June 2021

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has
had no material impact on the Group’s financial performance and
positions for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

EREBEERAR(ARQAL TIRIERH
EHEZRAREREETN)E-_+t-%
EHEHESEMRIAEREBRA
A ERODNRBBBAERZAER ARG
(IREmDERLET - KRB ZHEE
BRORBWAKRERGRAR  ERRE
BRZEE(RBERHEBR]) EMMAL
VHREELEER -ARAEMBEE
BEREIZLEMHB Z2MITERFR(E
EER) —HPHE -

RAaPBREDUABT((BT] TAK
AR EE) 2 - EERE
S FREBECHNEEREI T -

ARABR—MREZERRF EMBR
ETZI?E%%%%ZR\WESS o

RAFEE  KAREREKNE QA (5
FZFEJ)E‘}KFE%L‘ATEE%/%E#EW
RE([EREFFLAEDRMINR_-F
——HEtA-HRZEFAR ZFE A
58 il A= 2 2 HKFRS WY& 7T 78 - A #s B4R
EMBHE

HKFRS595% « B st MEEEHSE

B 395 + HKFRS —&

757 - HKFRS £ 457

K HKFRS % 1657

(BFI )

HKFRS 5 1637 HAR-ZT=—F

CHES) ~NA=tHZ%
£ Covid-19-48 %
BEER

N

4 [ R FIHKFRS 12 T A M % 5 5 2
B 5 R TR SR B RN R SE B
B SRR RAR R R B E
KB E -

IZ_

EBREEARLAT —SE-F4EH



kRe W R M (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E--F,NA=FH 30JUNE 2022

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
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HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and the related HKFRS 217 5% REE N R
Amendments? BB
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual HKFRSE 3% (157IA)  BIRERZ R’
Framework'
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets HKFRS 25 105% & REEHEAKE
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its EE L LR FE285 NAHEB R
Associate or Joint Venture® (BETAK) ZERNEELE
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Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current BB e ERE15 GEENEARY
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amendments to Hong Kong BEREESTH
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Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies? EHRETENEIHR e BENRE?
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 BRI SRS LR
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Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates? EAet LB ELE BRHh A ER?
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Fulfiling a Contract’ CHES) A
Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs HKFRS (8 3] ) HKFRSZZ — \

2018-2020'

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

E-T-TFR

Bz FEIE



A B HRER M (B)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E--F;XA=+H 30JUNE 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact of the
amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs (which includes all the HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
HKICPA and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for defined benefit retirement plan. Historical
cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.
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Statement of compliance (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly
observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In
estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or
disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
Leases ("HKFRS 16”), and measurements that have some similarities
to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company, entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts

and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.
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Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of
third parties. The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the
customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of
goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

(@)  The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.

(b)  The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the Group performs.

() The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised. When the contract includes a
significant financing component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from sales of goods (including cultural
products and systems and related software licensing) based on the
consideration specified in a contract with a customer and the Group
excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group
satisfies a performance obligation when it transfers control of the
cultural products and systems and related software licencing to a
customer. Sales of systems and related software licensing is a single
performance obligation. Revenue from sale of goods is recognised at
the point in time.

The revenue from provision of installation service is recognised over
time.

The revenue from provision of maintenance services is recognised over
time as the customers simultaneously receive and consume the
benefits from the Group’s performance. Input method is used to
measure the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation which is to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring
control of goods or services.

Rental income, including rental invoiced in advance from assets under
operating leases, is recognised on a straight-line basis over the relevant
lease term.

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at amortised cost that are not
credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied to the gross
carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets, the
effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the asset.
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Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including land and buildings held for use
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method, at the following rates per annum:

Freehold land Nil
Buildings on freehold land 50 years
Leasehold land and buildings Over the shorter of the remaining
unexpired terms of the
relevant leases or 50 years
Plant and machinery and 10%-50%
communications networks

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and building

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position except for those that are
classified and accounted for as investment properties under the fair
value model. When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest in the
underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.
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Impairment on property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The recoverable
amount of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, and
are estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units,
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted. If the recoverable amount of
an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Leases

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the
definition under HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition
date, as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contact are subsequently changed. As a
practical expedient, leases with similar characteristics are accounted on
a portfolio basis when the Group reasonably expects that the effects on
the consolidated financial statements would not differ materially from
individual leases within the portfolio.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contact that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also
applies the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another systematic
basis over the lease term.
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Leases (Continued)

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,
less any lease incentives received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

o an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling
and removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it
is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposit

Refundable rental deposit paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of use assets.
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Leases (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that
are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not
readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;

° amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual
values guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably
certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term
reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.
After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Leases (Continued)

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as
receivables at commencement date at amounts equal to net
investments in the leases, measured using the interest rate implicit in
the respective leases. Initial direct costs (other than those incurred by
manufacturer or dealer lessors) are included in the initial measurement
of the net investments in the leases. Interest income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on
the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to
the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”). Transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows

that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

° the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity
investment in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (‘ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade and other
receivables, loan receivables and cash and cash equivalents) which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal
to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk,
e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating
results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to
identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk and
revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event of
default occurs when information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have
a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would
not otherwise consider;

° it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation ; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset
because of financial difficulties.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there
is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the counterparty
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit
or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss
given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and
loss given default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which
case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or
as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, lease liabilities,
amount due to a director and amount due to the ultimate holding
company are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the
Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation. Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties
surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using the
cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the effect of the
time value of money is material).
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is calculated using the first-in, first-out method except for cost of
cultural products, which are assigned by using specific identification
cost method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of
that consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised before the
Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the amount
is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of
the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECL.
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Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from ’profit before taxation’ as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it
relates to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.
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Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The
chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the directors of the Company that made strategic
decisions during the year.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and
on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period,
in which case, the exchange rates at the date of transactions are used.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the heading
of translation reserve. Exchange differences are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which the foreign operation is disposed of.
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Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund
retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company operate a self-administered and
funded pension scheme in the United Kingdom. The scheme provides
defined pension benefits with reference to the final salary of the
members at retirement and their length of service. The scheme is
closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

The Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit retirement
plans is calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
the present value and the fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The
calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit
credit method.

Service cost and net interest expense/(income) on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset) are recognised in profit or loss and allocated by
function as part of “administrative expenses”. Current service cost is
measured as the increase in the present value of the defined benefit
obligation resulting from employee service in current period. When the
benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed, the portion
of the changed benefit related to past service by employees, or the
gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised as an expense in profit or loss
at the earlier of when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and
when related restructuring cost or termination benefit are recognised.
Net interest expense/(income) for the period is determined by applying
the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit liability/(asset).
The discount rate is the yield at the end of the reporting period on high
quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligations.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit retirement plans are
recognised in other comprehensive income and reflected immediately
in accumulated losses and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses, the return on
plan assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net
defined benefit liability/(asset)) and any change in the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability/(asset)).
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Related party

(@ A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to
the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the Group
or the Group’s parent;

or

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group (which

means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or an associate or joint venture of a member of a group of
which the other entity is a member);

(i) both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;
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Related party (continued)

(b)  (Continued)

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is @ member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)  the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personal services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.
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(a) Critical accounting judgements in applying

(a) ERAAEEETBERZE

the Group’s accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following accounting judgements:

The Group holds certain cultural products for resale in the
ordinary course of business. Although the value of cultural
products may appreciate over time, it is the Group’s intention to
hold such assets for trading. Accordingly, those items of cultural
products are classified as inventories under current assets.

Judgement is required in determining the timing of satisfaction of
performance obligation. The Group derives revenue from sale of
cultural products, systems and related software. The Group
carefully evaluates the terms and conditions stipulated in contract
and/or sale order with a customer and assesses when the
control of the goods has been transferred to the customer. In
addition, the Group also assessed whether the Group is acting
as the principal (i.e. whether the Group has the primary
responsibility for the sale of goods, bears the risks of loss and
obsolescence, and also has full discretion over the goods). The
directors of the Company have determined that the control is
passed to customer upon the goods are delivered to the agreed
destination. This also is the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional.

The directors of the Company assessed and considered that the
sales of systems and installation are one single performance
obligation and to be recognised at a particular point in time (i.e.
when control of the systems and software is transferred to the
customer). The Group delivers products to customers after
installation of customised softwares in the systems. The
installation work is carried out in the Group’s premises or on sites
specified by customers. The Group grants customers the right to
use the software and no update or upgrade of the software is
required to be performed by the Group after sales. The sales of
systems and software and related installation are assessed by
the management to be not distinct in the context of the
application of HKFRS 15 as what being delivered to the customer
is a combined product with customer specifications.
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(a)

(b)

Critical accounting judgements in applying
the Group’s accounting policies (Continued)

The Group sells large telecommunication equipment and
software that need to be installed at customers’ premises. As
management considered that the hardware installation service is
a very simple procedure the equipment can operate and function
as normal way and the customer can choose to install the
equipment by themselves or by third party service provider, the
installation service and sales of equipment are distinct in the
content of the application of HKFRS 15. Revenue from provision
of installation services is determined by management to be
recognised over time as the customer simultaneously receives
and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs the installation service. The Group
recognises revenue in relation to the sales of telecommunication
equipment of a particular point in time (i.e. when control is
transferred to the customers).

The Group signed contracts with customers to provide
maintenance over a period of time. The customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs the maintenance service,
therefore, revenue from provision of maintenance service is
recognised over time.

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year.
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(b) Sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b) fhat THEE M 2 RIR @)

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for trade
receivables which are not assessed individually. The provision
rates are based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is
based on the Group’s historical default rates taking into
consideration forward-looking information that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.

At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are
reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The Group determines the provision of impairment of other
receivables and loan receivables based on ECL. The Group
assesses the ECL for each of the other receivables and loan
receivables individually based on the financial position and the
economic environment in which the borrowers operate.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL of the Group’s trade and other
receivables, and loan receivables are disclosed in note 5.

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of
completion and selling expenses. These estimates are based on
the current market price of similar products and historical
experience of distributing and selling products of similar nature. It
could change significantly as a result of market condition.
Management assesses the estimations at each reporting date.

At 30 June 2022, the carrying amount of the Group’s inventories
was HK$20,934,000 (2021: HK$23,105,000).
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Financial assets TREEE

At amortised cost B7g: L 1= DD N
Financial liabilities Rt A&

At amortised cost 12 48 55 X AR
Lease liabilities HEAE

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, loan receivables, bank balances and cash, trade and other
payables, amount due to a director and amount due to ultimate holding
company. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in
respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk in relation to trade receivables, the
management of the Group will only allow customers with good credit
history to pay on credit. In addition, the management reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual trade debt at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account future discounted cash flows, to
ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
137,576 154,280
46,612 62,514
5,121 4,427
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the credit risk of
trade receivables is low based on the sound collection history of the
receivables and the economic environment the debtors operate.
Therefore, the ECL rate of the trade receivables is assessed to be
closed to zero and no provision was made as at 30 June 2022.

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is information
indicating that the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, no trade receivables have
been written off for both years.

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has exposed to credit risk on loan
receivables. The management of the Group considers the probability of
default based on the financial position of the borrowers and guarantors
and the economic environment of the borrowers operate. Therefore,
the ECL rate of the non-credit impaired loan receivables are assessed
to be closed to zero and no provision was made as at 30 June 2022.
As at 30 June 2022, the management of the Group considers the loan
receivable with credit impaired in previous years is not recoverable,
accordingly, no reversal of impairment as at 30 June 2022 was made.

Movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of loan
receivables during the year is as follows:
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Credit

impaired

EHZA

HK$'000

F&T

At 1 July 2020 RZFE=-_ZEFtH—H 5,485
Currency realignment E H % 1,128
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 R_BE-_—F~NA=+BER-_ZT_—%+A—H 6,613
Currency realignment FE 5, 38 & (759)
At 30 June 2022 RZEBEZ__FXA=+H 5,854
Expected credit loss rate TEHEEEEX 100%
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has exposed to credit risk on other
receivables. As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
management of the Group makes periodic individual assessment on
the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also available reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information. The management of the Group believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s other
receivables.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which are
deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the Group does
not have any other significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across
diverse industries and geographical areas. The credit risk on liquid
funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

In managing the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level
of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of borrowings
and the compliance of loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial
liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount of interest payment is estimated based on the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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Financial risk management objectives and REEEE B ERBEG®
policies (Continued)

Within Total Carrying
Effective one year or Between Between undiscounted amount
interest rates on demand 1-2 years 2-5 years cash flows at 30 June
—-FRH AEBH RAA=TAH
BRFIE BEH -Z2=F “EIE BER4E ZERHE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BNt FTAEL FTAEL TAEL FEL TAEL
2022 —E-C
Financial liabilities at RBHRATE
amortised cost ZERMEE
Trade and other payables ~ ENT & 5 R E i8R - 46,612 - - 46,612 46,612
Liabilities at amortised cost 1% # 8 B & 5 &
28
Lease liabilities HEER 2.1-7.68% 2,878 2,051 434 5,363 5,121
49,490 2,051 434 51,975 51,733
2021 —E-—F
Financial liabilties at REHN ARG 2
amortised cost ZEMBE
Trade and other payables BN E 5 R E MR - 48,601 - - 48,601 48,601
Amount due to a director N —REERNHIE - 2,180 - - 2,180 2,180
Amount due to ultimate R SR AR
holding company FOFeE] 6.3% 12,473 - - 12,473 11,733
Liabilties at amortised cost ~ fR#E $4 Rk AEH & 2
B
Lease liabilities HEAE 2.1-3.5% 2,786 1,391 448 4,625 4,407
66,040 1,391 448 67,879 66,941
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank deposits. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk in relation to loan receivable and lease liabilities.

The Group does not enter into any arrangement to hedge cash flow
interest rate risk. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should
the need arises.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate deposits and bank balances
at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
that the amount of balances outstanding at the end of the reporting
period was outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis points (2021: 10
basis points) increase or decrease represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2021: 10 basis points) higher
or lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
after tax for the year ended 30 June 2022 would increase or decrease
by approximately HK$108,000 (2021: HK$119,000).

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent interest rate risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

MHERREREBRSEREE@®
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that movement in foreign
currency exchange rate which will affect the Group’s financial results
and its cash flows. Certain trade receivables and bank balances of the
Group are denominated in foreign currencies. The Group does not
engage in any foreign currency hedging instruments. It is the Group’s
policy to manage foreign currency risk through matching foreign
currency income with expense, and where exposure to foreign
exchange is anticipated, appropriate hedging instruments will be used.

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities, which expose the Group
to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the group entities’ foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting
date are as follows:

2022
—E=-=

Assets
BE
HK$’000
FHET

Euro
United States dollar

12,989
4,443

e B9
ISIS]

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Liabilities Assets Liabilities
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

The group entities are mainly exposed to foreign currency risk from
Euro and United States dollars. Under the pegged exchange rate
system, the financial exposure on exchange rate fluctuation between
Hong Kong dollar and United States dollars is considered insignificant
by the directors of the Company and therefore no sensitivity analysis
has been prepared.

The following table details the group entities’ sensitivity to a 5% (2021:
5%) increase and decrease in Euro against each group entity’s
functional currency. 5% (2021: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the year end for a 5% (2021: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit
before taxation where Euro strengthen 5% (2021: 5%) against each
group entity’s functional currency. For a 5% (2021: 5%) weakening of
Euro against each group entity’s functional currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

T

Euro & JT

In the management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does
not reflect the exposure during the year.

Fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities
The directors of the Company consider the carrying amounts of

financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

BEEABEEEEREE @

SEERTIBREZINERBRKEBRT
RET - EHBEEXKIIT BEFERR
78 7T B8 55 7T BE RO By 2 B 75 L B AR O
B 1t 3f 4 A BL R E D AT ©

TERFMRGPEETEBURLLSEE
FER2WEEB2EXR FARTHAS
(ZEZ—F 5% ZHEE 5% (=ZF
Z—F %) NAEEBATREEZE
BAEBMEIINERBRBMKAZGRE
thR EREREEBEBYINEEXRSIER
BB T MEREDITERE U
BAEZAZNERIER  WEINERE
KEBEN(ZT = —F :5%) ¥ HF 4
ZHREEHFARE . LN EEBRRNMET
HESEEBRENEEBEAEN(ZE =
—F : 5%) & < BR B AT U A G H0 =k 18
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BREREE ZHARTE -

2022 2021

— === T —F
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FH T FET
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(a) Revenue (a) Wz
Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable for WHEAEBERRINARAZTEHEE
goods sold and services provided by the Group to external ERMREERBE 2D WKL EIR
customers. FKIB ©
The revenue of the Group comprises the following: NEB 7 IWEZBIETY SR -
2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FET
Revenue from contracts with customers FEHKFRS 2 155%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 BEFAHNmEBRN B
Revenue from Contracts with Customers S olE
Sales of cultural products HEXILE M 2,777 3,137
Technology — Sales of systems including BE—RFHEE (BEESY
software licensing FETHE) 55,836 68,095
Technology — Rendering of installation B — it 4
and maintenance services PR 7% 45,624 43,643
104,237 114,875
Technology — Leasing of system products Rl —THE X5 E @ 23,518 24,194
127,755 139,069
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E--F;XA=+H 30JUNE 2022

The operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies conforming to HKFRSs, which are regularly
reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, for the purpose of allocating resources
to segments and assessing their performance. Three operating
and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments
are identified as follows:

e Sales of cultural — includes income from trading of

(b) Segment information (b) nEEHR

SR TYIR B AHKFRS 2 & &1
BEMSIE NI ERREHZA
WHARAER(ANETELE AR
B)EHEBUSEERTSDE
I 5T B R IB o HHKFRS 5 857 4F
0 AEENKERA®RED
Bogo AN T=45:

s HEXILEM — BEXLEMR

products cultural products BH52HA
e Technology: System  — includes income from sales of o RIF : &R — BREHEERSR
sales including systems including software HE (B (B
software licensing licensing and provision of [ =y ] A RE &
and services installation and maintenance R ART) RELTER
services #EE AR TS)
Z WA
e Technology: Leasing of — includes income from leasing of o Rl : HE — BREEERR
system products system products RREM Emz2 WA

Segment results represent the profit or loss before taxation
recognised by each reportable segment, excluding interest
income, finance costs, unallocated income and expenses such
as central administration costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

DREBREEIBREBMER
BHAAMERER TEENE
WA BBRA - RDOBEZBAR
B 3z (a0 mp RAT B AR J2 & = 3 B
F) UHRIBRERREGER
BORMRFEEIBRZEERE
RH o
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(b) Segment information (Continued)

(b) 7 EEF

Information regarding the above segments is reported below: EE Lt BEER 2R T -
Technology
B
System sales
including
Sales of software Leasing of
cultural licensing system
products and services products Consolidated
REBHE
HENL (BEH4E BHERSZ
Em FERE®) Em "nEe
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET FAET
Year ended 30 June 2022 BE-Z_C
NE=Z+TLEE
REVENUE U 2=
External and total revenue HONHE MBS
Recognised at a point in time NE—EHEER 2,777 55,836 - 58,613
Recognised over time 5 B RS/ 7R - 45,624 23,518 69,142
2,777 101,460 23,518 127,755
RESULTS K&
Segment result NEEE (390) 7,931 2,312 9,853
Interest income RPN 574
Finance costs 8 75 P A (629)
Unallocated expenses, net AOMAST—F5 (4,780)
Profit before taxation B A% Al F1 5,018
Year ended 30 June 2021 BE-—E=-—F
ANA=ZTHLEEE
REVENUE U 2=
External and total revenue EONEE & K AW a5
Recognised at a pointin time A X — i 25 R 3,137 68,095 — 71,232
Recognised over time & B 5] e 2R — 43,643 24,194 67,837
ke 111,738 24,194 139,069
RESULTS &
Segment result DEFEE 249 15,971 4,976 21,196
Interest income ISR PN 811
Finance costs B 75 B AR (1,109)
Unallocated expenses, net AP —F58 (13,548)
Profit before taxation B B B A1 7,354
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(b) Segment information (continued)

b) 2EER @

Technology
B
System sales
including
Sales of software Leasing of
cultural licensing system
products and services products Consolidated
AREHE
HEXt (BRE4E HERS
Em HERE®) Em wne
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAT FAT FAT
Year ended 30 June 2022 B8Ez-—FE_—_—
ANRE=THLEE
Amounts included in SFAEE D R %
the measure of segment EEz R :
profit or loss:
Depreciation of property, ME - BB MEE
plant and equipment ZITE - 6,314 1,868 8,182
Depreciation of right-of-use CTREESEZTE
assets — 2,477 328 2,805
Year ended 30 June 2021 BE-_=E-—%
RA=ZTHLEFE
Amounts included in s A2 5 58 F 5k
the measure of segment B Ze5
profit or loss:
Depreciation of property, Y R KR
plant and equipment 2 e — 5,426 1,817 7,243
Depreciation of right-of-use FREEEZINE
assets — 2,494 412 2,906
Reversal of impairment losses 5t 17 & P #E 32
recognised for inventories ek (B 2 2] 20 — — 20

No information about segment assets and liabilities is presented
as such information is not regularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker for resource allocation and
performance assessment purposes.

HRZEERTRERRETE
BREARENETERIR R
KRG RABRZTNBEELIEE
ERBEZEFR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(c)

(d)

Geographical information

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue
and non-current assets by location of customers and by location
of assets respectively:

(c) #EE R
FEBARNREF REEMEM
BlozWam MIERBEE D ITHE
BT

Revenue Non-current assets
W = FRBEE
Year ended 30 June As at 30 June
BZEXRA=1THLEE RAA=t+HL
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C - —E-— -
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FE T FAET FTHET FET
People’s Republic of China A % A R X F1
(the “PRC”), including ([hE])BHE
Hong Kong and Macau BB KR 2,777 3,137 972 =
Europe (mainly United BOM(EZERE
Kingdom (“UK”) and ([®EE]) RER)
Germany) 124,978 135,932 43,053 38,885
127,755 139,069 44,025 38,885

Information about major customer

Revenue from customer of the corresponding years contributing
over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as follows:

Customer A ZEA

Customer A contributed revenue from system sales including
software licensing and services.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

d EEEFZEH
REERFEAREERHERE
BB 10% MBS IKEmT

2022 2021
—E=-= == =G
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FHET
14,904 —
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7. OTHER INCOME, GAINSANDLOSSES 7. HEftlh A - WEB R EE

2022 2021

—_EgE-—F —E-—%F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FHET FAET

Interest income B U A 574 811
Exchange loss, net &N B85 (1,975) (1,259)
Others H 4,386 3,113
2,985 2,665

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MM

2022 2021

B8 —E - —4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT - TET

Interest on amount due tc
company
Interest on lease

EEEEMARAR —2==8K% 115
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Profit before taxation has been arrived at after BRERADRFNIGR A T&EEZ

charging: ER
Directors’ remuneration (note 10(a)) ZEE5M 2 (FF3E10@)
Staff costs excluding directors’ remuneration BERACIBREEEN)
Retirement benefit scheme contributions other R (K& FI s 21t (B BB 4N
than directors (note 25) (FF5E25)
Total staff costs EEXA BT

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, ME BMELREZITE
included in general and administrative expenses (5t A—M& R1THZH )
(note 14) (FF3E14)

Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in FREEEZINE GFA—RBK
general and administrative expenses (note 15) THRXER) (M&E15)

Short-term lease payment EHEENMK
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 BN B
— Audit service —Z B R
— Other service —H b R
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BEERAEIH ZTFERA

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

2022
g

HK$’000

TR

1,381
66,991

1,932

70,304

8,182

2,847
2,121

850
210

1,060

20,368

2021

=

HK$’000
THET

840
71,875

3,154

75,869

7,243

2,906
2,044

1,058
742

1,800

22,455
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E--F;XA=+H 30JUNE 2022

(a) Directors and chief executive’s

remuneration

Directors’” emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefit of Directors)

Regulation are as follows:

Year ended 30 June 2022

Executive directors
Mr. Chan Koon Wa (note (v))

Ms. Wong Man Winny (note (vi))

Mr. Wu Yunijing (note (iv))

Non-executive directors

Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica
Mr. Liu Ka Lim (note (iii))

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Leung Man Fai

Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada

Mr. Clayton Ip (note (vii)

Mr. Ip Wai Lun William (note (viii))

HITES
(Pt 5% (v)

BT
(BT 2 (vi))

RAFRE
(BT EE(v))

kGTES
HHs
BEELE

(PR 2 i)

BYFHTES
RYIESL A
ExEmut
ERIEELE

(CBf % (vii))
ERfmEE

(PF 5 (viii))

Salaries

and other

Fees benefits
HFeR

e HER
HK$'000 HK$’000
THERT THER

480 -

540 -

120 =
120 =

60 -

61 -

1,381 =

m)§$&%Eﬁﬁkézw

RIEE S 2 B &0 55383(1) 1 &

ARI(FEBRESFEER) EOE
oW BEHESHe 2 ERERE

T

BE-T--—f#xA=tAL
i
Performance Retirement
related benefit Total
incentive scheme directors’

payments contributions emoluments
BIERR RINEF BESHe
BRzRE Bk K3 e
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT TER TERT
(note (i))
(Bt =E (1))

- - 480

- - 540

- - 120
= = 120

- - 1,381
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.EEM<E BEaHF AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST LEEBEEBAECZEHS
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR (&)

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(a) Directors and chief executive’s @ EERBEETHRAEZ
remuneration (Continued) [ kAT )
Year ended 30 June 2021 BE-_E-_—-SXA=+H81Lt
FE
Performance Retirement

Salaries related benefit Total

and other incentive scheme directors’

Fees  benefits payments  contributions  emoluments

ek BRIERR RRERF BEEME

we HMEMN Zmo®s sHEIHR fiak

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TERT TAT TAT TAT

(note (i)
(PR 2E ()
Executive directors HITES
Ms. Wong Man Winny BT — = - — N
Mr. Liu Ka Lim (note (ii)) BRERESE
(PR 22 (i) - - - - =
Mr. Wu Yunjing (note (iv) RAFEE
(PR 5E (V) = = = = -
Non-executive directors FHTES
Ms. To Yin Fong Cecilica B Z+ 480 = = = 480
Mr. Liu Ka Lim (note (i) BRRELE
(PR 2 (i) = = = - -
Independent non-executive directors B Yk TES
Mr. Leung Man Fai PN B 120 N — S 120
Ms. Chung Sau Wai Ada EAEBLTL 120 — — = 120
Mr. Clayton Ip HERIE A& 120 — — — 120
840 - — . 840
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(a) Directors and chief executive’s
remuneration (Continued)

Notes:

)

(vil)

(viii)

The performance related incentive payment is discretionary as
recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company having
regard to the Group’s financial results and the performance of the
directors of the Company.

During both years, no emolument was paid by the Group to any of the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or retirement from employment with the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Mr. Liu Ka Lim has been re-designated as a non-executive director of
the Company with effect from 23 October 2020.

Mr. Wu Yunjing has been appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 30 March 2021 and retired on 30 December
2021.

Mr. Chan Koon Wa has been appointed as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 30 December 2021.

Ms. Wong Man Winny has been retired as an executive director of the
Company with effect from 30 December 2021.

Mr. Clayton Ip has been retired as an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 30 December 2021.

Mr. Ip Wai Lun William has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 30 December 2021.

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the
executive directors and non-executive directors are generally
emoluments paid or receivable in respect of those persons’ other

services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

Director fee paid to independent non-executive directors were for
their services as directors of the Company.
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10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION, 10.EEM<E BEaHF AL
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST LEEBEEBEAEZHS
EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR (&)

MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS

(Continued)

(b) Employees with highest emoluments b) EEHEE
The five highest paid individuals of the Group do not include any AEBREReHFALTILRER
(2021: Nil) director of the Company. The aggregate emoluments H(ZEZ—F \#)KQTESE-
of the five (2021: five) highest paid employees of the Group, not AEBHGBAZ(ZE_—F: R
being directors of the Company, are as follows: ZEeHEE(WIIEARAESE)
e RBEWNT
2022 2021
—E-C—F —E-—%&F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Salaries and other benefits HekEAMBT 5,632 4,589
Performance related incentive payments BIERRBEHB RS 1,352 2,029
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R AR AR F 51 8 3R 346 318
7,230 6,936
Emoluments of five (2021: five) employees were within the AE(—E-—F EZ)ES M
following bands: N FTIE&EE :

Number of employees

EBEAR

2022 2021
—EC-CF —E=—F
HK$1,000,000-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,000 7£-1,500,0007% 7T 3 3
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 # 7£-2,000,0007% 7T 2 2
There were no amounts paid during the year (2021: Nil) to the FR AERBERRAESSHA
five highest paid employees in connection with their retirement THBAEARER 2 EBEDEESK

from employment with the Group, or inducement to join. AEEMSNFE(ZE - — %

&) e
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Current tax: BV ER#R IR -

— Germany corporate income tax — B EMREN

— Malaysia corporate income tax —EREEEMBEH

— PRC enterprise income tax —HEEMEH
Under/(over) — provision in prior years: BEFEZBETIR

(HRERR ) -

— Germany corporate income tax — BB EMREN

— Malaysia corporate income tax —SRABEEMEB

— UK corporate income tax —HBPEMSH
Income tax expense Fr 1S %t 2

UK corporate income tax is calculated at 19% (2021: 19%) on the
estimated assessable profit derived from UK.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Germany, the Group is subject
to corporate income tax at 15% (2021: 15%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in
Germany.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Malaysia, the Group is subject
to corporate income tax at 24% (2021: 24%) on the estimated
assessable profit of the subsidiary which carried on business in
Malaysia.

Pursuant to the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the
PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years.

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
573 471

- 68

- 26

573 565

14 —
(127) =

- 1,100

(113) 1,100
460 1,665

EHECEMESH IR E EE 2 Gt E
A EAMIE19% (2 E = —F :19%) 2
FREFE -

BEEEZEREERRN  NEEBARR
BEETEBZHBARZ G ERE
A IRI5% (B = —F : 15%) 2 Hi X
BT ZEFTS T -

REFSRAZZEZRRRM  NEEE
RREROAGETEBE LCRNBRAZ
il 5t B SRR M HE24% (—ZF = — F :
24%) Z RGN ERFH -

REFBEECERGSHEATEEREHR

ENDREEMBREERGD  PEZ
MERRRMERNZH KRS R25% -

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the BEEMSWIOURE BB 2 Bt ERM
estimated assessable profits derived from Hong Kong. There is no i ) ?;z 16.5% (ZF = — 4 :16.5%) 2
estimated assessable profit for Hong Kong Profits Tax for both years. RAE - PNWMERN MEBMNERH I &=

ERNE R

The taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as follows:

$¢FZ%RIEE51$GT o5 Jo H Al 2 UL
mARZEBADEFHERAT

2022 2021
—_ g T —%F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET T T
Profit before taxation B 72 B & 5,018 7,354
Tax at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5% REABNFHE16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) —E-—F :165%): &
| ZBR 827 1,213
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBLEME RS 2
operating in other jurisdiction MT% AlZ TRAB Rz & 273 247
Tax effect of profit not subject to tax or A E fb B A [ B 7B AR A 3k
exempted in other jurisdiction EREEHF RN 2 METE (182) (663)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for BARBBEENNBR A2
tax purposes My E 2,377 2,942
Utilisation of tax loss previously not recognized &) i@ {F R HER 2 BB E 1B — (494)
Under/(over)-provision in respect of prior years BBATFEEENEETIRS
(FBEERE ) (113) 1,100
Others HAh (2,722) (2,680)
Income tax expense for the year FRFEHRYTH 460 1,665

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—Z-—F;"A=+H 30JUNE 2022

12. DIVIDENDS 12. R B
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June HEZTZZFAA=-+THLEFE I
2022 nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of reporting REESZHZEEEMEE BREH
period (2021: Nil). TREETAEZEZREEMBE(ZZTZ
—F )
13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 5 REF
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to owners of the KARIEBEANEEZBREREBR TR
Company is based on the following data: BT ERE
2022 2021
—EgE-_—F —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FHET
Profit for the year AN [E i F 4,558 5,689
’000 000
Number of ordinary shares TAERREE T8 Fix

Weighted average number of ordinar

for the purpose of basic 221,438

Diluted earning __,,,_\
30 June \
4 “ E poten d

EREEMARAT —2==FF8% 123
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Cost

At 30 June 2020

Currency realignment
Additions
Written-off

At 30 June 2021

Currency realignment
Additions
Disposal

At 30 June 2022

Depreciation and impairment

At 30 June 2020

Currency realignment
Provided for the year
Eliminated on written-off

At 30 June 2021
Currency realignment
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposal

At 30 June 2022

Carrying values

At 30 June 2022

At 30 June 2021

R-ZEBE-_—F,XA=+H
R IE RS

NE

E
RNZE-——_F,A=+H
ESERE
R-E-_ZTF,XA=+H
R ES

F N

TR 54 B B B
R—ZFE=-—_—%F<A=+H
bE &A%

FREE

o R R
RZZTE-—=—FA=+H
BREE
R=-ZZT-——FxA=+H

R-ZE-_—FA=1+H

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Land and
building

T RETF
HK$'000
TAET

14,191

1,412

15,603

(2,077)
6,117

19,643

4,345

247

4,592
(506)

4,086

15,557

11,011

Plant and
machinery and
communications
networks
= =
RBEHAK
HK$'000

FET

273,164

32,742
10,490
31

316,365

(35,645)
10,694
(315)

291,099

255,089

30,493
7,243
(31

292,794
(32,946)
8,182
(185)

267,845

23,254

23,571

Total
At

HK$'000
TAET

287,355

34,154
10,490
(1)

331,968
(37,722)
16,811

(315)

310,742

259,434

30,740
7,243
(1)

297,386
(33,452)
8,182
(185)

271,931

38,811

34,582
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14.Y% - BERZ#E w

(Continued)
2022 2021
B8 —E -4
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTER FHT
The carrying values of the Group’s AEBE ¥ ERRAERRE:
property interests comprise:
Freehold properties held outside Hong Kong REBAIME B KA
EL A 7ES 15,557 11,011
As at 30 June 2022, property, plant and equipment of the Group with R-B-_—FEXA=1+H A&EBz
aggregate carrying amounts of HK$9,797,000 (2021: HK$11,011,000) BR M B £9,797,0008 T(=—F = —F ¢
have been pledged as collaterals for the defined benefit retirement 11,011,000 7T) 2 W% - BERRZREE
scheme of certain subsidiaries operated in UK. WEBEIEANRKBREENS THERQT

) E AR AR IR B IR & o

EEREEMARAR —2==FfF8K% 125
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Carrying amount
At 1 July 2020

Additions
Depreciation expense
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021

Additions

Depreciation expense
Lease termination
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2022

For the year ended 30 June 2022

Expense relating to short-term leases
and other leases with lease term
ended within 12 months

Total cash outflow for leases

For the year ended 30 June 2021

Expense relating to short-term leases
and other leases with lease term
within 12 months

Total cash outflow for leases

RESHE
R-ZZE-2FtA—H

NE
WEER
BEE 3¢, 58 B

RR=ZEBE-_—-FxA=1+H
Kk—_ZE_-_—-FtHA—H

NE

FEER
RIEHE
I SR

R=®==FXA=+8

BE-®--FxA=tA
L

HIEHHEHEREMEERH
WER  HESHAE12(E
AR

HERSRHEE

HE-—T-_—%,A=+H
IHFE

HEMEHENEMEERH
WER HESHAE12(E
HAER

HERERLEE

For both years, the Group lease various offices and motor vehicles for
its operations. Lease contracts are entered into fixed term of 1 to 8
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Land and Motor
buildings vehicle Total
T REF RE R
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
1,090 2,800 3,890
— 2,911 2,911
(776) (2,130) (2,906)
86 322 408
400 3,903 4,303
2,661 1,720 4,381
(834) (2,013) (2,847)
- (123) (123)
(94) (406) (500)
2,133 3,081 5,214
1,677 444 2,121
2,564 2,541 5,105
1,414 630 2,044
1,849 2,757 4,606

MEME AEEHESBERAIENT
BELETELE -HECRNEEHER
1284F - HEFRRERE MR IE R 5%
BER  HPBa8RERERMGEMS -
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Raw materials R
Work in progress T2 m
Finished goods (notes) 25K m (FF 3%)

Notes:

(i

(i)

Included in finished goods are cultural products (including precious stone and
artifacts) of HK$4,303,000 (2021: HK$4,419,000) which are held for trading
and resale in the ordinary course of business.

As at 30 June 2022 and 2021, all cultural products of the Group were stored in
a secured warehouse run by a world-renowned security company, which is an
independent third party to the Group.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2018, the Group engaged GEM Appraisal Center of Peking
University (b5t AEAZEFET L) (the “Appraisal Center’) to conduct a
scientific examination for 139 pieces of cultural products regarding their grading
and classification. The management of the Group arranged the valuer, 1t 5
BEREERTGEERAR (EREHWEERE), to reassess the market values of
all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June 2018 based on the findings of
a team of cultural product and jewellery expert (“Experts”) from “China Cultural
Heritage Information and Consulting Centre” led by Ms. YANG Zhen Hua (5= E)
and the Appraisal Center concerning the grading and classification of 4 pieces
and 139 pieces of the cultural products respectively.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 30 June 2021, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t R 72 {5 to assess
the current market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June
2021 based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning
the grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition
of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at
30 June 2021 by 4t = MEIZE{5, the management of the Group determined
that their net realisable values were below their carrying amounts as of 30 June
2021 and the shortfalls resulted in further impairment loss of HK$20,000 for the
year ended 30 June 2021.

(i)

(i)

2022 2021
—E=-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
TERT FET
8,711 7,285
1,760 5,807
10,463 10,013
20,934 23,105

HARBMBERAREBARIRERER
EBEZXER(BELEE R REM
&) 4,303,000 7T (=T = — 4 : 4,419,000
L) °

RZEBEZ=ZFR=ZFT=—F<A=1H"
AEBZHAXLERER —HERME
MREZRAAMNRBRERE  HAXEEE Y
E=F-

REEBEE T \EANA=TALEFE
ZHRAVMBKHEANS  ALEEDEBEILR
dABRETHLTEEHRL]) B394
NIEESNTRRDBETHNBEE -
CEERECLHGEMILETEEREE
BFEERAR((ERTREAERE])IEE—
BB EELTEENRE(PEAXYE
BEAPLIZXEERREREEREK
(TERDEREEHD LD B4 R 1391 5%
EVERZBURDB2EE Eh2
A3 XILERR -_E—NEXNA=+
AZHREEMBEE-

REARBE_FT_—FA=1THLFE
ZIEAMBHREME  ASBEEEFGE
Mt RTERERRERREED LY
FZENCERZ MRS R ZER AR
HBFMR - &7 E 2 143 EERR
—ECFRAZTHZREMSEE
BREBILRTERER - —F A=+
BEXEERNMGE ASEEREREE
HEVEERWAERFEERER -F=
—FRAZTHANREEE SR _FT=
—FRAZTHELERE-TRERRA
20,0007 7T °

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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Notes: (Continued) BisE : (48)
(ii) (Continued) (il (%)
For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year MEREE T _—_FXA=THILEE

ended 30 June 2022, the Group engaged the valuer, 1t X EI 7215 to assess
the current market values of all 143 pieces of cultural products as at 30 June
2022 based on the finding of the Experts and the Appraisal Centre concerning
the grading and classification of the cultural products and the current condition
of the cultural products. Based on the valuation of the cultural products as at
30 June 2022 by 1t R EZ{E, the management of the Group determined
that no significant variance between net realisable values and their carrying
amounts as of 30 June 2022 and no impairment loss was provided for the year
ended 30 June 2022.

The directors of the Company were of the view that, with the detailed exercise
performed by the Appraisal Center and the valuer, the carrying amount net of
impairment recognised so far, reflected in the consolidated financial statements,
was the best estimate of the recoverable amount of the cultural products.

ZIEEMBEmEAMNS  AEBECEEME
Mt RTRREERERRETP LY
ZEXERZRURDPEBEZER AR
HEBFAMRR - FH 21438 L ERD
ZEZZFRNA=THZBARMSEE-
BEIIRATEEEAR ST -—_F<A=1+
HEXIFERNHEE AEEETEERE
HE - XA=Z1+H0AERFEE
HEFEMBECZATESAER WA ET
REBEE-_T-_—_FA=-+HLLFERE
18 o

FRRAEEFRAR KEFFLRMEEME
THAMNAER REAVBBRRRR A
HNREERRE L RAERXLERT
WE SR REMBE o

2022 2021

—_ g =0 =s

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FHE T

Trade receivables (Note) JEURE 5 ARk (M aE) 13,261 14,822
Other receivables JFE U L th BR 3K 10,576 11,717
23,837 26,539
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Note:

The Group maintains a well-defined credit policy regarding its trade customers
depending on their credit worthiness, nature of services and products, industry
practice and condition of the market with credit period ranging from 30 days to 180
days.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

0-60 days 0-60H
61-90 days 61-90 H
91-180 days 91-180H

Before accepting any new customer, the Group’s finance and sales management team
would assess the potential customer’s credit worthiness and define credit limits
accordingly for the customers. Credit limits attributable to customers are reviewed
regularly with reference to past settlement history and where appropriate, information
about their current reputation.

Details of credit policy impairment assessment of trade receivables for the year ended

30 June 2022 and 2021 are set out in note 5.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of expected credit losses) presented
based on past due status at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

Not past due R 80 HR
Less than 1 month past due wmEL R —1{EA

p

AEEREBGEPETHBZEERE - RIE
BEZER RERERZIEE TRARERT
BERAMETEFP N FOHEIBORZEEH -

BWESEFHREREEBER) RREHNTE
BREEZEHZERESMENNT :

2022 2021
—E-—F T —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHT
10,658 14,618
2,428 204

175 —

13,261 14,822

REMNEFAFELPH AEEZYBRIEEER
EREFHEERPZERE YHBMEER
FzFEE BMTEFzZEREERE2EHBHE
BERECHEREBENBR TR BERAEEANREN
EEEMAETER -

BE-_ZT-—"SF-_"ZT-—FXA=1+HILtFE
K E W B 5 BR 5K (5 B BRI B 7T 18 7 18 SR BT
50

BERBESHRABRRNES 2 BKRE SR
BREBEEER) ZREATMAT

2022 2021
—=-= —EZ—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET F# T
12,923 14,618

338 204

13,261 14,822

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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2022 2021

—E—= —EZ—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

Loan receivables FEWE T 11,708 15,631
Less: provision for impairment losses S ETIRRE B 1R B (5,854) (6,613)
5,854 9,018

As at 30 June 2022, loan receivables (net of expected credit losses) of RZZEZ—_FXNA=Z1+H EBR=%E
approximately HK$5,854,000 (2021: approximately HK$9,018,000) BRACEZ—F NEEZTA)HNER
were due from three borrowers (2021: four borrowers), unsecured and (B EHEEEE) A 45854,000%8
with personal guarantee. All the loan receivables are denominated in TT(ZZ = —4F : £9,018,000/8 7T) ' #%
Renminbi (‘RMB”). The loan receivables carry fixed interest rates EEX J%E ERERBREAER FTEE
ranging from 8% to 10% (2021: 8% to 10%) per annum with maturity WERHUARBTARBDEE - E
date within 12 months from the loan draw down date. Up to the date of 11 % MEEFFEAEI%E10% (=
this report, approximately HK$5,854,000 was received by the Group. T —F:8%FE10%) HHPHREAER

TEHXE HENT_@AR - BEARS
HE - A&EEES WEIFIEL A5,854,000

T

(a) The cash and cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits (@) BerBeSHEAEINHE A=
with maturity of three months or less and cash held by the MASKUNAZEHEREARER
Group. BEZRE -
Certain bank balances and cash of HK$11,317,000 (2021: 11,817,000 0 (Z T = —F -
HK$9,139,000) were denominated in RMB, which is not freely 9,139,000 7T) 2 & T IRIT &R &
convertible currency in the international market. The remittance BETWAAREAE MAREBL
of these funds out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions FORBIEmSER LR EE -
imposed by the Government of the PRC. AP HERNZEESAXTEK

J5 B 3 2 51 B B P AR R
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(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from

financing activities

The table below shows the detailed changes in the Group’s
major liabilities arising from financing activities, including both

cash and non-cash changes.

At 1 July 2020

Financing cash flow:
Loan from ultimate holding company
Repayment of lease liabilities

Currency realignment

Other changes:
Interest expenses
New leases entered

At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021

Financing cash flow:

Repayment to ultimate holding company
Repayment of lease liabilities

Interest paid

Currency realignment

Other changes:

Interest expenses

Lease termination

New leases entered
Reclassified to other payables

At 30 June 2022

R-B-®EtA-A

MERSRE:
oK B & AR BB & R
EEAEAE

I 3 35 &

Hth @5 :
FEX
RIMHHE

R=B=—FXA=+H
k=—2-—-%tA—H

MERERE :
BRI R B FIR
HEAEAR

B A8

BE 5 AR

Hi @ :

B X

wIERE

RIMHHE

B0 BERMNEAMER

Amount due
to a director
(note 24)
EBf—A
EEWRE
(Bt &£ 24)
HK$’000
FET

2,180

2,180

2,180)

(2,180)

b) ERMEETHFELEREN

¥ Bk

TREINAKEARELTHAE
ETERENEH(BRBESRIE

Re

Amount due to
ultimate holding
company
RNESES
ERAR

Y IR

HK$'000

FET

8,561

2,315

2,315

857

857

11,733

(7,369)

(492)

(7,861)

492

(4,364)

(3,872)

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R

JEEE

Lease
liabilities

HERE
HK$'000
THT

4,070

(3,133)

(3,133)

331

248

2,911

3,159

4,427

(2,984)

(2,984)

(500)

137
(125)
4,166

4,178

5,121

Total

Mt
HK$'000
TET

14,811

2,315
(3,133)

(818)

331

1,105
2,911

4,016

18,340

(7,369)
(2,984)
(492)

(10,845)

(500)

629
(125)
4,166
(6,544)

(1,874)

5,121



4= A

e P BHRRME (B
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E--F,NA=FH 30JUNE 2022

20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

20. BN E 5 K HAIKRMK

2022 2021
—E_-= —E-—%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FiET
Trade payables FERTE 5 BRK 3,220 4,189
Other payables (Note) JFE A5 L At BR 3R (B 3E) 43,392 44,412
46,612 48,601
Note: Bt 5

It mainly represents amount due to the former ultimate holding company, accrued
expenses and accrued directors’ bonus to certain subsidiaries operated in UK.

The aging analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice
date at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

HIBHEEMNMRERZERAFTIA B EAR
MERBLENETHBRARNINNEAES

ENEZEFINBRERCERFZERR
HENZREDIT250T

2022 2021

—E=-= == =42

HK$’000 HK$’000

TH&xT FHET

0-60 days 0-60H 3,220 4,189

The credit period for purchases of goods ranged from 30 days to 60
days.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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2022 2021
=2== —E—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Receipts in advance from customers HIBERB 2B E P RIE
for provision of services 24,096 24,970
Movements in contract liabilities SHEEEH
2022 2021
=F== —E—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
At 1 July REtAR—H 24,970 22,096
Currency realignment PE 5, 58 & (2,872) 1,783
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of & }%T Pl 75 78 U 5% 38 i
billing in advance of provision of services BRENAGEEM 25,592 24,496
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result 5] EA F AR AT
of recognising revenue during the year aREENKENER
that was included in contract liabilities EHEaERD
at the beginning of the year (23,594) (23,405)
At 30 June MANA=+H 24,096 24,970
All the amount of billings in advance of performance as at 30 June NR-_ZE-_—=E=XA=+H FiERA 2
2022 are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. JEHFEE R —ERNERAERA -
As at 30 June 2022, the aggregated amount of the transaction price R-E-_—_FEXA=+H  BEAE
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the Group’s HEANPREHR TRAEETOREE
existing contracts is HK$22,721,000 (2021: HK$28,614,000). These 4% A22 721,000 L (B = —F
amount would be recognised as revenue when the services are 28,614,000/ 7T) - REE KR & L F R
provided by the Group over the life of the contracts to the customers, NABZPRERBEER L ZE ALK
which is expected to occur over the next three years. = WHEHZFEBEBR AR =ERNER
R E e
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2022 2021
-z T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Lease liabilities payable: ENHEAE -
Within one year —F X 2,728 2,674
Within a period of more than one year —F A ET BB F
but not more than two years 1,966 1,309
Within a period of more than two years M LB EBRRF
but not more than five years 427 444
5,121 4,427
Less: Amounts due for settlement within W mBAEEETETRNE
12 months shown under current liabilities 1218 A AR HEE B R (2,728) (2,674)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months ERBABETNEARNI2(EA
shown under non-current liabilities B EIHEZERNIE 2,393 1,753
2022 2021
—E_-= =58 — —&=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TET FE T
At 1 July “+A—A 1,062 1,230
Currency realignment bE 5 A (142) 129
Provided during the year F NG R 142 =
Utilised during the year F XA ) (297)
At 30 June RANA=+H 1,053 1,062

The warranty provision represents the management’s best estimate of

REREEEEERBEBELRLEENA
HEBRBEEMZBEMEZ G TESR
Emt_AAREHMYAREE TA
P 2 RAERTM

the Group’s liability under 12-month warranties granted on system
products, based on prior experience and industry average for defective
products.
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The amount due to a director of the Company is unsecured, non-

ENARR —REFENFKEAETEEA -

interest bearing, has no fixed term of repayment and is repayable on T EZBETEEHBREBAREX
demand. B -
2022 2021
—=E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHET FiET
Retirement benefit contributions to MAEE FEERGTEZNG 2
the Group’s defined contribution scheme IR A8 I 3K 1,000 1,123
Retirement benefit contributions to MASE EEEMNFTEZNZ
the Group’s defined benefit scheme R AR R X 932 2,031
1,932 3,154
(a) Defined contribution scheme (a) EEHFEE

Certain subsidiaries of the Company participate in a retirement
benefit scheme covering a portion of their employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of independent trustees.

Commenced from December 2000, the Group enrolled all eligible
employees in Hong Kong into a mandatory provident fund (the
“MPF”) scheme. The retirement benefit cost of the MPF scheme
charged to the profit or loss represents contributions to the MPF
scheme by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the MPF
scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of government-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the respective local government in the PRC. The
Group is required to contribute a specified percentage of payroll
costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
scheme is to make the specified contributions.

ARABETETHBERARARBD
B B RILRIKE A G & - % HE
NeEERAKRBEZEED AR
U FRBEBYRFEAZENZE
A o

@ﬁ

ZEREST AR AEER
SR AEREREEEM
c2ERFE AR ((RER])
El - REENRZRESEIR
REEM KA AR EEIZEE S
BRAUREZ LR @B TE
TR Z 3K e

uﬂ o I

S
B

\}tmkﬂ 4}:31

$%l#¢@2%%”ﬂ@iﬁ
TEZHEABRFEMRZBEE
LWMﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁ°$%ﬁﬁMh
Bz TERARZRKE
FErEERHER - RREFRMEHR
BE o FHIEEHRRTI A KB R Z
BRE & 2 HE—&IE

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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(a)

(b)

Defined contribution scheme (continued)

During the year, the total expense recognised in consolidated
statement of the profit or loss amounted to HK$1,000,000 (2021:
HK$1,123,000) and represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
schemes.

Defined benefit scheme

Certain subsidiaries of the Company in UK operate an
administered and funded pension scheme in the UK. The scheme
provides defined pension benefits with reference to the final
salary of the members at retirement and their length of service.
The scheme was closed to new members since 1 January 2003.

The contributions which are determined by a qualified actuary on
the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit
method are charged to the profit or loss. Under the scheme, the
employees are entitled to a pension between 1.67% and 2.50%
of final salary for each year of pensionable service at an age of
65. No other post-retirement benefits are provided. The most
recent actuarial valuations of scheme assets and the present
value of the defined benefit obligations as at 30 June 2022 were
prepared by Buck Consultants Limited, Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA),
Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries (“FIA”) (2021:
Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA)), for accounting reporting purpose. The
assumptions which have the most significant effect on the results
of the valuation are those relating to the rate of return on
investments and the rates of increase in salaries, pensions and
share dividends.

The funded pension scheme exposes the Group to actuarial risks
such as investment risk, interest rate risk, longevity risk and
salary risk.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

(a)

(b)

E B R AT 8 )

FA - RIRcBEERBERZAX
1,000,000 T ( Z & = — F:
1,123,000 7T) AR S E iR Z F5
ZIMABTE 2 L EZHWEEFEL 2
FEF R o

TE #8185t

ARBETETRENB QAR
Y-HEBTEERERZERKE
FEHE o teET B iR E B N R KE
ZERRE R RS F IR E
BMERAREN - BB A _TT=F
—A-—BERTEXHKESLE-

BEEERBEMT =F KRB
BUBREETHEEE 25K
ThR B e P HIBR o BER UL EH &
& 8 — % AI 70 4F [E 65 5% FF 4B HUR
Re 2ENFERF167%E
250% LA ERKE 2 IREFEHE
FEHE o REB W MR M E A RK
‘a2 EBEERERER
FAERBEZREGREDR_Z
— Z— %X A=+ B #1730 A Buck
Consultants Limited = Rachel Downs
ARX(REBEMBEERSE
[KEREMBEERER]) (=
— —“F : Rachel Downs A A (3 B #5
HMHheBERAE8))mE UEE
OEHRESTHE - HEHELRERS
EEBREDBEERERRE
EEFe BRRSHEREZFE-
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(b) Defined benefit scheme (continued)

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
using a discount rate determined by reference to high quality
corporate bond yields; if the return on plan asset is below this
rate, it will create a plan deficit. Currently the plan has relatively
balanced investment in equity securities, debt instruments and
real estates. Due to the long-term nature of the plan liabilities, the
trustee of the pension fund considers it appropriate that a
reasonable portion of the plan assets should be invested in equity
securities and in real estate to leverage the return generated by
the fund.

A decrease in the bond interest rate will increase the plan liability;
however, this will be partially offset by an increase in the return
on the plan’s debt investments.

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the best estimate of the mortality of plan
participants both during and after their employment. An increase
in the life expectancy of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

The present value of the defined benefit plan liability is calculated
by reference to the future salaries of plan participants. As such,
an increase in the salary of the plan participants will increase the
plan’s liability.

(b)

E BN E 2 @

EHEEMNFEREZRENERSZ
REELREFKEXEEZH
REHE  HAEEEZEDRER
ZE - B EBHG B EA - %ET
FEAMBEEREFEZRAES
BB TARBEHERSE - EN:TE
BEZRAME  RREESIFEA
RRBAEEEARELI»KRER
RABESRBEWE  KERESH
ELXZOHHREEE -

BEHFENERESEMFIEE: A
- Eihat8lc EHRE D RE
1 P #E 3 3K o

TRBANFEBEZRENSR
AEAZ2EENERERRRER
BT Rz BREMTFE -8
SR E 7 8 8 & a1 00 #5 28 o0 &t
FaE-

ERBEMNFAHNAEZIRELSR
FREZ2EEC ARG R EE
it FHEI2 B E 2 F & 18 0 A% 18 hn
HEAE-
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(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EHEEREE @

The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FTAZEZEREREREOT :
At 30 June At 30 June
2022 2021
R==2=Z= R-E-—F

~HA=+H NA=+H

Discount rate B IR K 3.75% 1.80%
Expected rate of salary increase FEHE & TR 2.85% 2.85%

Future pension increases KIE R L TFHIE 3.1% 3.15%

The actuarial valuation updated to 30 June 2022 by Mrs. Rachel
Downs (FIA) (2021: Mrs. Rachel Downs (FIA)) showed that the
market value of the scheme assets was HK$307,438,000 (2021:
HK$423,163,000) and that the actuarial value of these assets
represented 102% (2021: 96%) of the benefits that had accrued
to members.

Under the recovery plan dated 31 May 2016, the Group has
agreed to contribute GBP340,000 per annum increasing at 4%
on each 1 July from 1 July 2018 into the plan. In addition, the
Scottish Limited Partnership for the plan has been arranged such
that the plan will receive an income stream of GBP400,000 per
annum at 1 July 2018 increasing at 4% on each 1 July thereafter.
As at 30 June 2022, the duration of the plan liability is 15 years
(2021: 15 years).
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Rachel Downs & A ( 2 B ¥5 & Bl 1

2EREE) (T —F: Rachel
Downs K K (KB EERI e
eE)BEE T _-__F,A= +

BrREGEBR~ FEEEZ
{8 /& 307,438,000/8 T (Z&F = —
4 1 423,163,0008 L) M EE
EZREBEALHESES®E
F2102% (ZF=—4F : 96%) °

BERBHA-_ZT—ARNERA=T
—B2ZREE AEEREAZ
T-NEtA—Bi REEtLA
— B M #% 5T &l )£ & 340,000 % £% -
TEEMI% - B4 Bzt
THERERBARLE  S%iTElE
—E-NFtA-HRHEHEZF
&+ A — B Y EL400,000 2 £& Z Uk
A BEEMI%B e R_T = =
NA=TH ZAEEEZFEHA
THRF(ZEZ—F:+RHF) -
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(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) = EERGE @

Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income in respect of the defined

benefit pension plans are as follows:

B B FUR K5 BIR & 4 18 3
REMEZEAKRSEFBRRL 4 HE
m

2022 2021
===z T
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHxT FET
Scheme administrative costs & BT AR AR (1,722) (1,950)
Net interest (expense)/income B (Z ) WA FEE 790 (81)
Components of defined benefit costs MNIE = B R ZE B8R KA
recognised in profit or loss (included in A (FEA—MRITHE
general and administrative expenses) X ) (932) (2,031)
Remeasurement of the net defined ENirEERBNAEFE
benefit liability:
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts FEIEEZER (T
included in net interest expense) BRFAF BRI FE 2
$3) (68,305) 23,040
Actuarial losses arising from changes AOBREFFEELEZ
in demographic assumptions BEEER 284 (2,620)
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising from SRR EHAELEY
changes in financial assumptions EE () 95,882 5,604
Actuarial gains/(losses) arising KRAEMEEZRE
from experience adjustments sk (E518) (7,771) 11,088
Components of defined benefit costs REMEEBA(EH) #ER
recognised in other comprehensive 2 TE B AR A K AN B ED
income/(expense) 20,090 37,012
Total 4858 19,158 34,981

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EHEEREE @

The amount included in the consolidated statement of financial NE B 7 F2EE M E K 2 &
position arising from the Group’s obligations in respect of its EMES 2Bt ASGETE

defined benefit pension plans is as follows: RS - AT
2022 2021

—E=-= -
HK$’000 HK$’000
FE R FAET
Fair value of scheme assets FrEEEZAAEMAE 307,438 423,163
Present value of funded obligations BeAEZRE (800,273) (439,181)
Net liability arising from defined EREBRNAEMELEZ
benefit obligation BEFE 7,165 (16,018)
The Group expects contribution of GBP354,000 (equivalent to REFBEFER T M BREEMR
HK$3,377,000) will be made (2021: GBP354,000 (equivalent to T %818 F 5t & ff F* 354,000 % £2
HK$3,796,000)) to the defined benefit plans during the next (=M 3,377,000 T) (Z T = —
financial year. 4 : 354,000 £ (48 5 748,796,000
PEIL)) e
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(b) Defined benefit scheme (continued)

(b) EEREAGFE @

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligation

are as follows:

EREBEMAEZHEEZSOT -

2022 2021
—E=-C T —F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Opening defined benefit obligation F ) 7E AR N FHE 439,181 421,053
Currency realignment P& & A (42,803) 48,215
Past service costs BAEMRBKER = -
Interest cost FLE K AR 7,335 6,519
Remeasurement losses: EFEEER:
Actuarial losses arising from AOBEREBREELEZ
changes in demographic assumptions TEEEE (284) 2,620
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from MBBREEREEAZ
changes in financial assumptions BE(RA)BE (95,882) (5,504)
Actuarial (gains)/losses arising from 7 B Dﬂ EELE Z2EE
experience adjustments (AN, i 7,771 (11,088)
Benefits paid FFr 45 4@ A1) (15,045) (22,634)
Closing defined benefit obligation F 4T RAE A E 300,273 439,181
Movements in the fair value of plan assets are as follows: EEEZARBEESAOT
2022 2021
—E- — T —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET T T
Opening fair value of plan assets FOFEEEZARBE 423,163 370,313
Currency realignment BEE 5, 3 X (42,364) 44,361
Interest income FEMA 8,125 6,438
Scheme administrative costs T E1T B A (1,722) (1,950)
Return on plan assets (excluding amounts FEEEZER(CIEEE R
included in net interest expense) AMETHFREZLHE) (68,305) 23,040
Contribution by employer 1B = # 3K 3,586 3,595
Benefits paid FAT A< 48 7 (15,045) (22,634)
Closing fair value of plan assets FREABEEZAREEB 307,438 423,163

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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25. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 25. & K& A 51 8l )
(Continued)
(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) EEEERE @
The fair value of the scheme assets at the end of the reporting HEEERNBEHRER 220
period is analysed as follows: BESTOT :
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
TH&xT FHET
Equity instruments (Quoted) T A (RE) 181,085 275,893
Debt instruments (Quoted) BEBITAEGRE) 104,314 138,531
Other assets (Note) Hih &z (Msr) 22,039 8,739
307,438 423,163
The actual return on scheme assets was negative FEEEZERO®R A A
HK$61,902,000 (2021: positive HK$27,528,000). 61,002,000/ T(=ZZT = — 4 : IE
27,528,000/ ) °
Note: The balance mainly represent the cash and cash equivalents. s hEBTITERETHEESLBESSE
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(b) Defined benefit scheme (Continued) (b) = EERGE @

Significant actuarial assumptions for the determination of the
defined obligation are discount rate and expected salary
increase. The sensitivity analysis below have been determined
based on reasonably possible changes of the respective
assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period, while
holding all other assumptions constant.

If the discount rate is 25 basis points higher/(lower), the defined
benefit obligations would decrease by HK$8,997,000/(increase
by HK$8,997,000) (2021: decrease by HK$15,944,000/(increase
by HK$15,944,000)).

If the expected salary growth increases/(decreases) by 0.25%,
the defined benefit obligations would increase by HK$4,160,000/
(decrease by HK$4,160,000) (2021: increase by HK$7,934,000/
(decrease by HK$7,934,000)).

The sensitivity analysis presented above may not be
representative of the actual change in the defined benefit
obligations as it is unlikely that the change in assumptions would
occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions
may be correlated.

Furthermore, in presenting the above sensitivity analysis, the
present value of the defined benefit obligation has been
calculated using the projected unit method at the end of the
reporting period, which is the same as that applied in calculating
the defined benefit obligations liability recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

There was no change in the methods and assumptions used in
preparing the sensitivity analysis from prior years.

BEERATEEZEABERRR
MREREHHFEER - AT HR
EOMBRER RS A THERT SR
RERAEARESHTEMERER
BRI TEmMERE -

WAL R EF (N k) 25 2
TE FE @ A # 5 % 48,997,000
7./ (1% H08,997,000/8 L) (Z & —
—4F 8 415,944,000 7T,/ (18 0
15,944,000 7T)) °

MBHEHFEEER A (T EK)
0.25% ' & %8 & A & #& 45 1 10
4,160,000 7t/ (& 2> 4,160,0007%
To)(ZZF = —F : #17,934,000/5
7T,/ CFl 47,934,000 7T) ) °

MR EBo KRR ELERE  E—
BUBRREHTIATRELE U E
EINHREST A —EERKRE
BAEAMNEEZERES -

BESN  R2 5 A £ BURE 5 AR
TRBMNEEZRERRE DT
ERNBEAEMEREAE  HE
ARAEZEFBRRRANTER
ZEBBMNELABEZTAMER -

REBEFEZRRESFEAM
B2 ERBRERGEZLS -
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(c) Forfeited contribution

With effect from 1 December 2000, the Group has also joined a
mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for its
employees in Hong Kong. The MPF Scheme is registered with
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Authority under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of an independent trustee. Under the
MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required
to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at rates specified in
the rules. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
MPF Scheme is to make the required contributions. Except for
voluntary contribution, no forfeited contribution under the MPF
Scheme is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.

For the retirement benefits of the Group’s qualifying employees in
the UK, the Group has participated in the retirement benefits
scheme operated by the global HR benefits and human resource
consulting firm authorised and regulated by the Financial
Conduct Authority. The employees are entitled to post retirement
cash commutation. Details of the scheme are set out in note 3
and note 25(b) to the consolidated financial statements. No
forfeited contribution under UK retirement benefit Scheme is
available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

At 30 June 2022 and 2021, there were no significant forfeited
contributions which arose upon employees leaving the schemes
before they are fully vested in the contributions and which are
available to reduce the contributions payable by the Group in the
future.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$59,017,000 (2021: HK$59,017,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. These tax losses
may be carried forward indefinitely.
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27. CAPITAL AND RESERVES 27. B A K f# &
(@) Movements in components of equity (@) EEFH2EE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of REBGZEARAERSHED 2 F
each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in TMhEREHBZHEIHAEE
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the RAEZHERN - NARIERANZ
changes in the Company’s individual components of equity BRI EZH DR E L EKRB S E
between the beginning and the end of the year are set out in 1S5ERHIFES2 ©
note 32.
(b) Share capital (b) B
Number of
shares Amount
BHHE -]
‘000 HK$’000
T FAT
Authorised share capital with par value of SREEO0B T
HK$0.1 (2021: HK$0.1) each: (ZZ2=—%F:01%T)
ZEERA

Balance at 1 July 2020, 30 June 2021 and
30 June 2022 sl

EEEEARAT —2-——f4% 145
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(b) Share capital (continued)

Number of
shares
RO E
000
F A&
Issued and fully paid share B EEO. 1B TLH
capital with par value of BREITRHRKA
HK$0.1 each:
Balance at 1 July 2020, R-ZZE-_ZTFL+H—H -
30 June 2021 and B —HRXA=+H
1 July 2021 —E-—%+tHA—H
ZREER 217,039
Issue of share through FEBRCE T
placing (note) A& 7 (Bt 5%) 43,404
Share issue expenses BHIRMNEA =
Balanceat30 June 2022 R-ZE_-__FxXA=1+H
2R 260,443

Note: On 24 May 2022, the Company issued and placed 43,404,000 ordinary
shares of the Company at a placing price of HK$0.278 per placing
share to independent third parties, and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HK$12,066,000 to be used as general working capital of
the Group.

KANTONE HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2022

(b) B am)

Share Shares
capital premium
BRE ROBE
HK$'000 HK$’000
TET FHET

21,704 799,317

4,340 7,726
— (302)

26,044 806,741

MieE: R=F——

Capital
reserve
BRA G E
HK$’000
FET

966,807

966,807

Total
Bt
HK$’'000
TET

1,787,828

12,066
(302)

1,799,592

FRAZTMA XA

A) LA 5 % Bt & AR 15 0.2787% JT &) B
EBRABYS - HARITIERET
43,404,000 % 7~ A~ 7] #) & Ak - 2=
£ & & 45 58 4912,066,0007% 7T #5 A
EAEEN —REEESD -
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(c) Reserves (c) &

The application of the share premium account is governed
by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. Under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in share
premium account are distributable to shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the
Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

The capital reserve represents the amount arising from the
reduction of the nominal amount of the shares of the
Company (after the consolidation of 5 Ordinary shares of
HK$1 each into 1 shares in 2018) of HK$5 each by
cancelling the paid up capital to the extent of HK$4.9 each
share of the Company in 2018. The capital reserve is
available for distribution under the Companies Law of
Cayman Islands.

The exchange translation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 3.

B EERZEAXMSE
ERREEE -REFASE
ERBE - BNEERZE
SHDIKRTARBBRE - I
EEZEFEORBREZBIE
ARPEARENEERAE
EBBREDIRES -

BEXABEEARAR ZF—
NFEAE R EE1E T Z5
P &R A O R 2 B
BHRER LNEHEBEARAS
X HER4.9E T AR ER
RRABEBREE T 2B MDE
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Each of the Company and Champion has a share option scheme under
which eligible persons, including directors of the Company, Champion or
any of their respective subsidiaries, may be granted options to subscribe
for shares of the Company and Champion respectively. As at 9 November
2021, the Company was no longer the subsidiary of Champion.

(@) The Company

On 30 November 2012, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”). The purpose of the Scheme was to
attract and to retain quality personnel and to provide them with
incentive to contribute to the business and operation of the
Group. Under the Scheme, the directors of the Company may
grant options to any eligible persons of the Group, including
directors, employees or consultants of the Company, its
subsidiaries or affiliates or any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include the aforesaid persons or a company
beneficially owned by the aforesaid persons as well as
customers, suppliers or advisers of the Group, to subscribe for
shares of the Company. An option granted is exercisable at any
time for a period determined by the directors of the Company
which should not be more than ten years from the date of grant,
where the acceptance date should not be later than 21 days
after the date of offer.

The exercise price per share (subject to adjustment as provided
therein) of the option granted under the Scheme is equal to the
highest of (i) the nominal value of the shares; (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; and (jii) the
average closing price per share as stated in the daily quotation
sheet of the Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant. The maximum number of shares in
respect of which the options may be granted under the Scheme
shall not exceed 10% of the issued share capital of the Company
at the date of approval of the Scheme. The total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted to any one grantee in
any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue on the last date of such 12-month
period, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.
The Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing from 30 November 2012. No option under the
Scheme has been granted since the adoption of such scheme.
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(b) Champion b) B&F

On 30 November 2012, Champion adopted a share option
scheme (the “Champion option scheme”). The purpose of the
Champion Option Scheme was to attract and to retain quality
personnel and other persons and to provide them with incentive
to contribute to the business and operation of Champion and its
subsidiaries (the “Champion Group”). Under the Champion
Option Scheme, the directors of Champion might grant options
to any directors, employees or consultants of Champion, its
subsidiaries or affiliates or any discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects included the aforesaid persons or a
company beneficially owned by the aforesaid persons as well as
customers, suppliers or advisors of the Champion Group, to
subscribe for shares of Champion. An option granted by
Champion was exercisable at any time for a period determined
by the directors of Champion which should not be more than ten
years from the date of grant, where the acceptance date should
not be later than 21 days after the date of offer.

The exercise price per share (subject to adjustment as provided
therein) of the option granted under the Champion Option
Scheme is equal to the highest of (i) the nominal value of the
shares; (i) the closing price per share as stated in the daily
quotation sheet of the Exchange on the date of grant, which
must be a business day; and (i) the average closing price per
share as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant.
The maximum number of shares in respect of which the options
may be granted under the Champion Option Scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the issued share capital of Champion at the date
of approval of the Champion Option Scheme. The total maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options must not exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of Champion from time to time. The number of
shares in respect of which options may be granted to any one
grantee in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of
the shares of Champion in issue on the last date of such
12-month period, without prior approval from Champion’s
shareholders. The Champion Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from 30 November 2012.
No option has been granted since the adoption of such scheme
up to 9 November 2021 (date of change of immediate holding
company).
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The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and
accumulated losses.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a bi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the Company,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the new
share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group contracted with lessees in
respect of leasing of certain equipment which is included in plant and

REBEBAEAR LME{%ZKEIWR
ERHEANSELETAEE AR
NEBEBRARRNzZEFERTNE
FREREHR NEH 2 BEREE L
FE—He

AEEZERGEBHBRITEERARF
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1B B EITH IR R BB B A R 1T
HMELBEEREER UTFEHEERE
ZAN

AEBEZEAA

RS EAER > RNEBEAE ALK
e &LT WEPEBENETRE

machinery and communications networks, which fall due as follows: MEEIYARBIHBEWOT :
2022 2021
—E2-— — T —&F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET
Within one year —F R 3,561 4,229
In the second to fifth year inclusive EEFEFRAFAN(BEEEME) 2,903 4,214
6,464 8,443
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The Group as lessor (Continued)

As at 30 June 2022, the Group has service and equipment rental
contract with customers amounting to HK$33,344,000 (30 June 2021:
HK$36,187,000). As at 30 June 2022, the future income to be
generated from these contracts with an aggregate amount of
HK$32,337,000 (30 June 2021: HK$43,379,000) have been pledged
as securities for the defined benefit retirement scheme of certain
subsidiaries operated in UK.

AEEERAEA @

RZZTE-Z—_FA=+H "&EBHE
REFALHBRBEERERES N
33,344,000 (T - —F A=+
H :36,187,0008 L) c RZZT = ZF <
A=+H ZEE6HBELENRKREKA
4 %E32,337,0008 T (ZE = —F A=
+ H : 43,379,000 7T) EFIE AN EEH
EIEME TH B REMEEEMNRKE
SRR G o

/I

T

(i) During the year, the Group had the following transactions with () FRA AEEHEHBTEZLHET TG
Champion: T 5
2022 2021
—E=-— —E - —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Nature of transactions REMHE
Fees paid by the Group to Champion N E B A 7E B X A B R
for treasury services R 7% 2 & A 492 857
Fees paid by the Group to Champion for A& BIL KA [ S E XA
the provision of office premises and facilities, (2 HFAEZWE L& E
and management services, on cost basis UREEREZER BT
(note) 380 2,540
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AEBRBEELFITEM
for wages and salaries e ER 637 1,694
Fees paid by the Group to Champion AEEBRTEES 8
for the consultancy services ik 7% & A 12 250

Note: These transactions were carried out after negotiation between the
Group and Champion. The fees paid for the provision of office premises
and facilities, and management services. These transactions constituted
continuing connected transaction as defined in Chapter 14A of the
Main Board Listing Rules. However, these transactions are exempt from
the disclosure requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing
Rules as these transactions are sharing of administrative services
between the Group and Champion group on a cost basis and the cost
are identifiable and are allocated to the group entities involved on a fair
and equitable basis.
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(i

The key management personnel are those persons holding
positions with authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirectly,

including the directors of the Company and the five highest paid
individuals. Key management personnel remuneration are as

follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Performance related incentive payments
Retirement benefit scheme contributions

e Rk HAMAE
BIERBBRZES
B ARAE R 4K

(i)

On 7 December 2017, the Company (as the borrower) and Ms.
Wong Man Winny (“Ms. Wong”) (as the lender), a substantial
shareholder of Champion and a former director of the Company,
had entered into a facility agreement pursuant to which Ms.
Wong agreed to lend the Company up to HK$4,180,000 in
aggregate principle amount which was unsecured, non-interest
bearing and had no fixed term of repayment and was repayable
on demand (note 24). The Group had settled HK$2,000,000 to
Ms. Wong in 2020. The transaction contemplated under the
facility agreement constituted continuing connected transaction
is as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listings Rules as
the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better and
no security over the assets of the Company is granted in respect
of such financial assistance. As at 9 November 2021, the
Company was no longer the subsidiary of Champion. The
remaining balance of HK$2,180,000 was reclassified to other
payables accordingly.
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(i)
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FEENAARSHABR - TBF
BABFHHMET

2022 2021
—E=-= —ET-—4F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FE R FET
7,032 5,550

1,362 2,039

346 319

8,740 7,908
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FRA=+H 30JUNE 2022

On 17 September 2018, the Company (as the borrower) and
Champion (as the lender), the former ultimate holding company
of the Company, had entered into a loan agreement, pursuant to
which Champion agreed to lend the Company up to
HK$10,000,000 in aggregate principal amount which was
unsecured, interest bearing at 13% per annum and had no fixed
term of repayment and was repayable on demand. As at 30 June
2021, included in amount due to ultimate holding company was
a loan of HK$5,690,000 due to Champion was unsecured,
interest bearing at 13% per annum and had no fixed term of
repayment and was repayable on demand. The financial
assistance received constituted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules as
the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better and
no security over the assets of the Company was granted in
respect of such financial assistance.

As at 30 June 2021, included in amount due to the former
ultimate holding company was an amount of HK$6,043,000 due
to Champion was unsecured, interest-free and had no fixed term
of repayment and was repayable on demand. The financial
assistance received constituted continuing connected transaction
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules.
However, this transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure
requirements in Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules as
the transaction was on normal commercial terms or better and
no security over the assets of the Company was granted in
respect of such financial assistance.
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FRA=+H 30JUNE 2022

As at 30 June 2021, included in other receivables and other
payables were an amount of HK$1,160,000 and HK$13,041,000
due from/to fellow subsidiaries respectively, were unsecured,
interest-free and had no fixed term of repayment and were
repayable on demand. The financial assistance received
constituted continuing connected transaction as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules. However, this
transaction is fully exempt from the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Main Board Listing Rules as the transaction
was on normal commercial terms or better and no security over
the assets of the Company was granted in respect of such
financial assistance.
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Non-current assets kRBEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries JiE UR BT /B A B3R 1B

Interests in subsidiaries

R E ARz s

Current assets RBEE

Other receivables JFE W HL b BR 3R

Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries FEUR[R) R B /B & A3k IB
Cash and cash equivalents BehReFE
Current liabilities REAE

Other payables JE {1 L A BR 3R

Amounts due to subsidiaries &1 FfY /BB 2 B A9 3R 3B

Amount due to a director
Amount due to ultimate holding company

e — R EEHRIA

J& A R R 42 R X R O SRR

Net current liabilities REBEEFHE
Net assets EEFE
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital &% 7

Reserves (note) i 18 (PfT 5%)
Total equity EmBEHE

The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 September 2022

and are signed on its behalf by:

CHAN KOON WA
BR 7 2
Chairperson
e

2022
—_EgE-=

HK$°000

THET

58,336

502

58,838

316

9,357

9,673

19,833
10,829

30,662

(20,989)

37,849

26,044
11,805

37,849

2021

=

HK$’000
TR

57,646

502

58,148

143
80
4,742

4,965

15,180
3,578
2,180
9,656

30,594

(25,629)

32,519

21,704
10,815

32,519

ARBZHBERARARER T
NAZ+TNBEREZTEHERRE
& YR NIEFTRRES:

LIU KA LIM
BER
Director

EE

EREEBMRATR —E-_FFK
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 32. Z< A T Bt 78 44 57 & @)
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Note: Movements of the Company’s reserves during the current and prior years are

M : ARRARAFERBEFEZHEBEED

as follows: O
Share Capital Special Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
BpRE BARE BAHEE 4 &5t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET F&T FHET FET
At 1 July 2020 R-_ZE-_ZTF+H—H 799,317 966,807 195,874 (1,944,129) 17,869
Loss and total comprehensive AERBEBEREEM A%
expense for the year — — — (7,054) (7,054)
At 30 June 2021 and 1 July 2021 RZZEZ—FA=+BK
—F-_—%+H—H 799,317 966,807 195,874 (1,951,183) 10,815
Loss and total comprehensive AFEBEREEAXAE
expense for the year — — — (6,434) (6,434)
Issuance of new shares upon placing B2 & & 19 F 25 17 1 A%
of shares less transaction costs R B 7,424 — — — 7,424
At 30 June 2022 R=-ZB=-=—FxXA=+AH 806,741 966,807 195,874 (1,957,617) 11,805
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Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 30 June 2022 and 30 June R -_—_FXA=+tBER-_ZT=-—
2021 are as follows: NAZTHB ARAIEWB AR ZFIE
M
Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value of
incorporation/ share capital/registered capital/ issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
BRTRAEE HEMELR/
MEARER AR EE EEXRE APRAFBERTRAEDELLS FEXK
2022 2021 2022 2021
—g-C T —F —EB-C —E—F
Aspire Management Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEBRBRES US$2,636,320 US$2,636,320 REER
ZER Tk

2,636,320 % 7T 2,636,320% 1T

Bingo Profits Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EBEBRES EBRIZR TERk1ET REEK
Financial Vantage Limited* Samoa Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Inactive
BEEGHE EER1ZER TEk1ET BEER
Infopage Limited UK Ordinary £1,000 Ordinary £1,000 100% 100%  Dormant
H BER LR BRLER
1,000 % # 1,0003%
Multitone (UK) Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
HE £5,500,000 £5,500,000 REER
EBER BB

5,500,000 8 5,500,000 %

Kantone Energy Trading Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
BRRRESARAA BB HK$10,000 HK$10,000 REER
EER Sl
10,0007 7t 10,0007 7T
Kantone Logistics Management Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 Ordinary HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
ERYRERERAA &% EBR1ER TEK1BT REZR
Kontone Development Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 Ordinary HK$2 100% 100%  Inactive
BRERERAR" B ZER2ET LRR2B T LmE
M.C. Holdings Limited* Cayman Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
HEHE £5,500,002 £5,500,002 REZR
BER Sl
5,500,002% &  5,500,0023% &
Multitone Communications Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Dormant
B EERI100%EE LERI100HSE EFIEER
Multitone Scottish Limited Partnership UK Capital Capital 100% 100%  Investment holding
figei Contribution Contribution REER
£300 £300
BEXxRE BARE
3002 8§ 3005

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R
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Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value of
incorporation/ share capital/registered capital/ issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
BERTRAEE HEMELR/
HEARER Rl aygd-§ 4 EARE APRAFBERTRAEDELLS FEXK
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C —E-—F —B-C —E-—F
Multitone Communication Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Dormant
HE £25,000 £25,000 BEIEEH
ZER =gl
25,000 % 25,000 £
Multitone Rentals Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Dormant
HE ZERI00EE LBERI0EE BFEIEES
Multitone Electronics PLC UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding, design
iy £3,830,107 £3,830,107 and manufacture of
ZER Tk communication systems
3,830,107 # §& 3,830,107 4% and equipment
REER Rt REE
BERGRZE
Multitone General Partner Limited UK Ordinary £100 Ordinary £100 100% 100%  Investment holding
B ZERI00KE LERI100%EE REER
Multitone Electronics Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia Ordinary QOrdinary 100% 100% Manufacture of
- i) MR285,000 MR285,000 communication systems
ELEMR285000 A% 285,000 and equipment
BFREAZSHE EREELE EEBGRGRRAE
Multitone Retirement Benefits Plan UK Ordinary £1 Ordinary £1 100% 100%  Investment holding
Trustee Limited HE ZERIKS Limk1ReE REER
Multiton Elektronik GmbH Germany Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Distribution of
= €1,022,584 €1,022,584 communication systems
BER T mik and equipment
1,022,584 BT 1,022,584B0 7T DEBERARRE
Paging Systems Limited UK Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Inactive
HH £1,100,100 £1,100,100 TmE
EER AR

1,100,100 % &5 1,100,100 &%

Shenzhen Hengyu Science and PRC Registered Registered 100% 100%  Investment holding
Technology Company Limited F capital capital REER
(note (i)* RMB24,000,000  RMB24,000,000
BERE ORI ERAE () EMERAARY AMERARK
24,000,000 7 24,000,0007T
Abundant Success Trading (Macao Macau Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Provision of consulting
Commercial) Limited RP MOP100,000 MOP100,000 services, research and
Kt 5 CRMEE) —ABRAR LERRME LAk R P development, and
100,000 7 100,0007C trading of cultural
products
RERBRRSE  HER
RENREEX(
Em
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A B HRER M (B)
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

—E--F;XA=+H 30JUNE 2022

Place of Nominal value of issued Proportion of nominal value of
incorporation/ share capital/registered capital/ issued share capital held
Name of subsidiaries operations Capital Contribution by the Company Principal activities
BRORAEE EMEE/
MEARER MR S BExRE APRAFBERTRAEDELLS FEXK
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E-C-&F B —F —E--& 2%
Wollaston Limited* Samoa/Macau Ordinary US$1 Ordinary US$1 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEDES/RM EERIET T@Rk1%ET REER
Zonal Care Incorporated* British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary US$2 Ordinary US$2 100% 100%  Inactive
Macau ZER2ET LARoET LEE
ABEBRHE/
=P
Sky Sign Holdings Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
REBBRBER AR RERBAREE US$50,000 US$50,000 REZR
BER R
50,000 % 7t 50,0003 7T
Sure Beauty Investments Limited* British Virgin Islands Ordinary Ordinary 100% 100%  Investment holding
EEREBRAA" RERBAREE US$50,000 US$50,000 REZR
EBER &R
50,000 % 7t 50,0003 7T
Notes: BT -

0] Wholly foreign owned enterprise for a term of 20 years commencing from 17 (j) INEBECE FHA-TT=F1+A+

October 2003. tHEFZ=TF-
* Directly held by the Company. * BARBIEERS -
g For identification purpose only. # EXES: 4K

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which affected E 2 B %l 48 A 5] if B A 7 A& ¥ K FE 2
the results of the year or constituted a substantial portion of the net EHEE A E R ER AEBEEEFEE
assets of the Group. AEZWB AR -

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at 30 June &M B AR R T ~A=1THE

2022 and 30 June 2021 or at any time during the year. —E - —FRA=THKERNEMEHRH
HEFNEEES

EEEEERLAR —B==F &R



MBEREE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Revenue

Profit/(loss) from ordinary
activities before taxation

Profit/(loss) from operating
activities excluding other
operating items

Other operating items

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Income tax (expense)/credit
Profit/(loss) for the year
Attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Dividends

Total assets

Total liabilities

Shareholders’ funds

Equity attributable to owners

of the Company
Non-controlling interests

W &
BRBLAT B B XK
wF(BR)

Rt EE2RE
ZIEEEBEN,
(E#)

Hi& AR

BRBLATE R, (B18R)
PSR () HE e
FEERF(FE)
FE1h

ZIN/NEIE7 PN
FERE IR AR M B

BEBE
BfEmeE
BREES
AAFHES AN

-
o
WS

FEPE AR AR M 2
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2022
—E=-=

HK$’000

FER

127,755

5,018

5,018

(460)

4,558

4,558

4,558

2022
—E=-=
HK$000
FE T
210,187

76,908

133,279

133,279

133,279

Year ended 30 June

BEAAZTHLEE

2021 2020
T —F ZETHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
&L FHET
139,069 146,944
7,354 1,110
7,354 1,110
(1,665) 2,765
5,689 3,875
5,689 3,875
5,689 3,875
At 30 June
MAB=+H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ZET-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T BT
216,680 186,243
109,017 133,422
107,663 52,821
107,663 52,821
107,663 52,821

- =

= —NF

=2

= —NF

2019

HK$'000
TAET

143,966

1,793

1,793

644

2,437

2,437

2,437

2019

HK$'000
THET

162,438

94,980

67,458

67,458

67,458

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
F# T

136,743

(1,644,601)

(1,644,601)

713

(1,643,888)

(1,643,888)

(1,643,888)

2018
—E-N\F
HK$’000
FET
158,529
87,615

70,914

70,914

70,914
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